
 A meeting of the OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 
(COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT) will be held in CIVIC SUITE 
0.1A, PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST MARY'S STREET, HUNTINGDON, 
PE29 3TN on TUESDAY, 7 MARCH 2017 at 7:00 PM and you are 
requested to attend for the transaction of the following business:- 

 
 

 Contact 
(01480) 

 
 APOLOGIES   

 

 

1. MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 
10th January 2017. 
 

A Green 
388008 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 

 To receive from Members declarations as to disclosable pecuniary 
and other interests in relation to any Agenda item. 
 

 

3. NOTICE OF KEY EXECUTIVE DECISIONS  (Pages 9 - 12) 
 

 

 A copy of the current Notice of Key Executive Decisions is attached. 
Members are invited to note the Plan and to comment as appropriate 
on any items contained therein. 
 

A Roberts 
388015 

4. PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY   
 

 

 The Cambridgeshire County Council’s Highways Maintenance 
Manager, Mr Jonathan Clarke, will be in attendance to update the 
Panel on the maintenance of Public Rights of Way and answer 
Members’ questions. 
 

 

5. NEW CAMBRIDGESHIRE HOUSING ADAPTATIONS 
AGREEMENT AND REFRESHED HUNTINGDONSHIRE HOUSING 
RENEWAL ASSISTANCE POLICY  (Pages 13 - 98) 

 

 

 The Panel are to receive a report on the new Cambridgeshire 
Housing Adaptations Agreement and the refreshed Huntingdonshire 
Housing Renewal Assistance Policy. 
 

C Hannon 
388203 

6. WASTE ROUND RECONFIGURATION UPDATE   
 

 

 Members are to receive a verbal update on the implementation of the 
Waste Round Reconfiguration project.  
 

N Sloper 
388635 

7. REPRESENTATION ON EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS - 
QUARTERLY UPDATE REPORT  (Pages 99 - 104) 

 

 

 The Panel is to receive a report providing quarterly updates from the 
Council’s representatives on external organisations. 

A Green 
388008 



 
 

8. WORK PLAN STUDIES  (Pages 105 - 108) 
 

 

 To consider the work programmes of the Economy and Growth and 
Performance and Customers Overview and Scrutiny Panels. 
 

A Green 
388008 

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROGRESS  (Pages 109 - 112) 
 

 

 To consider a report on the Panel’s activities. 
 

A Green 
388008 

   
 Dated this 27 day of February 2017  

  

 
 Head of Paid Service 

Notes 
 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
 (1) Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests and unless you 

have obtained dispensation, cannot discuss or vote on the matter at the meeting and 
must also leave the room whilst the matter is being debated or voted on. 

 
 (2) A Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest if it - 
 
  (a) relates to you, or 
  (b) is an interest of - 
 
   (i) your spouse or civil partner; or 
   (ii) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife; or 
   (iii) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners 
 
  and you are aware that the other person has the interest. 
 
 (3) Disclosable pecuniary interests includes - 
 
  (a) any employment or profession carried out for profit or gain; 
  (b) any financial benefit received by the Member in respect of expenses incurred carrying 

out his or her duties as a Member (except from the Council); 
  (c) any current contracts with the Council; 
  (d) any beneficial interest in land/property within the Council's area; 
  (e) any licence for a month or longer to occupy land in the Council's area; 
  (f) any tenancy where the Council is landlord and the Member (or person in (2)(b) above) 

has a beneficial interest; or 
  (g) a beneficial interest (above the specified level) in the shares of any body which has a 

place of business or land in the Council's area. 
 
 Non-Statutory Disclosable Interests 
 
 (4) If a Member has a non-statutory disclosable interest then you are required to declare that 

interest, but may remain to discuss and vote providing you do not breach the overall 
Nolan principles. 

 
 (5) A Member has a non-statutory disclosable interest where - 
 

(a) a decision in relation to the business being considered might reasonably be regarded 
as affecting the well-being or financial standing of you or a member of your family or a 
person with whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect 
the majority of the council tax payers, rate payers or inhabitants of the ward or 



 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the authority's 
administrative area, or 

 (b) it relates to or is likely to affect a disclosable pecuniary interest, but in respect of a 
member of your family (other than specified in (2)(b) above) or a person with whom 
you have a close association, or 

 (c) it relates to or is likely to affect any body – 
 

   (i) exercising functions of a public nature; or 
   (ii) directed to charitable purposes; or 

   (iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union) of which you are a Member or in a 
position of control or management. 

 
  and that interest is not a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 
2. Filming, Photography and Recording at Council Meetings 
    
 The District Council supports the principles of openness and transparency in its decision 

making and permits filming, recording and the taking of photographs at its meetings that are 
open to the public.  It also welcomes the use of social networking and micro-blogging 
websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) to communicate with people about what is 
happening at meetings.  Arrangements for these activities should operate in accordance with 
guidelines agreed by the Council and available via the following link filming,photography-and-
recording-at-council-meetings.pdf or on request from the Democratic Services Team.  The 
Council understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to 
be filmed.  The Chairman of the meeting will facilitate this preference by ensuring that any 
such request not to be recorded is respected.  

Please contact Mr Adam Green, Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny), Tel No. 01480 
388008/e-mail Adam.Green@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  if you have a general query on 
any Agenda Item, wish to tender your apologies for absence from the meeting, or 
would like information on any decision taken by the Committee/Panel. 

Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed towards the 
Contact Officer. 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during 
consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 

 
 

Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 
www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 

 
 

If you would like a translation of Agenda/Minutes/Reports or 
would like a large text version or an audio version please 

contact the Elections & Democratic Services Manager and 
we will try to accommodate your needs. 

 
 

Emergency Procedure 

In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the Meeting 
Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via the closest emergency 
exit. 

 
 

http://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/SiteCollectionDocuments/HDCCMS/Documents/Democratic%20Services%20documents/filming,photography-and-recording-at-council-meetings.pdf
http://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/SiteCollectionDocuments/HDCCMS/Documents/Democratic%20Services%20documents/filming,photography-and-recording-at-council-meetings.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

(COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT) held in Civic Suite 0.1A, 
Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN on 
Tuesday, 10th January 2017. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor T D Alban – Chairman. 
   
  Councillors S J Criswell, J W Davies, 

T Hayward, Mrs P A Jordan, P Kadewere, 
L R Swain and Mrs J Tavener. 

   
 APOLOGIES: Apologies for absence from the meeting were 

submitted on behalf of Councillors 
B S Chapman, D A Giles and D Harty. 

   
 IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors D Brown, G J Bull and J E White. 
 
 
64. MINUTES   

 
 The minutes for the meeting of the Panel held on 6th December 2016 

were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

65. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 No declarations of interest were received. 
 

66. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRMAN   
 

 RESOLVED 
 
 that Councillor Mrs J Tavener be appointed Vice-Chairman of 
 the Panel for the remainder of the Municipal Year. 
 

67. CAMBRIDGESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL HEALTH COMMITTEE   
 

 RESOLVED 
 
 that Councillor Mrs J Tavener be appointed to the 
 Cambridgeshire County Council Health Committee for the 
 remainder of the Municipal Year. 
 
The Chairman thanked Councillor Mrs A Dickinson on behalf of the 
Panel for her roles as Vice Chairman of the Panel and as the Panel’s 
representative on the Cambridgeshire County Council Health 
Committee. 
 

68. NOTICE OF KEY EXECUTIVE DECISIONS   
 

 The Panel received and noted the current Notice of Key Executive 
Decisions (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) which 
has been prepared by the Executive Leader for the period 1st 
January 2017 to 30th April 2017. 
 

5

Agenda Item 1



Following a request, the Head of Operations and the Executive 
Councillor for Operations updated Members on the Review of Street 
Markets which was presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
(Economy and Growth) at its meeting on 8th December 2016.  
 
The Panel was informed that the Huntingdon Street Market will be 
moved to the high street. The Council have had a meeting with 
Cambridgeshire County Council and Huntingdon Town Council on 
10th January 2017 and the move has been approved by them but is 
subject to an amendment of the traffic regulation order. In addition 
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service have also given their 
approval to the new location of the market.  
 
The Council is aiming to ‘go live’ with the new position of the market 
on 31st March 2017 but that is subject to objections during the 
consultation process. Members were informed that all but one shop 
keeper was in favour moving the market. Proposals are to be brought 
forward in the autumn for St Ives Market. 
 

69. WASTE ROUND RECONFIGURATION UPDATE   
 

 With the aid of a report by the Head of Operations (a copy of which is 
appended in the Minute Book) the Waste Round Reconfiguration 
Update was presented to the Panel. The Executive Councillor for 
Operations introduced the report and reminded Members that 
currently the focus of the Operations service is to effectively 
communicate the round changes to residents before they ‘go live’. 
 
The Panel was informed that the implementation date has been re-
profiled to 27th February 2017 and that this has given Operations 
time to communicate to residents that their collection day is changing. 
Members were informed that 80% of collections will change and in all 
cases the collections will remain in the same week but will be on 
different days. 
 
The re-profiled date will also give the refuse collection officers more 
time to study their new rounds before implementation. Members were 
informed that the refuse collection officers will remain on the same 
waste stream (i.e. officers collecting waste will always collect waste 
and officers collecting recycling will always collect recycling) in order 
to maximise efficiency.  
 
Additional information (a copy of which is appended in the Minute 
Book) on the communications timetable, communications information 
and a briefing note was presented to the Panel. Members were 
informed that the online collection calendar will be up to date and will 
‘go live’ on the week commencing 16th January 2017. The Panel was 
informed that the rounds will be reviewed in 2020. 
 
The Chairman asked the Panel to consider the addition 
recommendation of inviting the Head of Operations and the Executive 
Councillor for Operations to attend the Panel meeting on 7th March 
2017 to verbally update Members on the implementation of the 
reconfigured rounds. 
 
A Member noted that the report states two different figures as the 
potential savings of the round reconfiguration however the Panel were 

6



informed that the figure of £270k is the correct amount. 
 
In response to a question on how the reconfigured rounds will affect 
particular areas and vulnerable residents, the Panel were informed 
that if there are areas in which vulnerable residents would be affected 
then Members and Officers should exchange information so that both 
parties can effectively communicate the change to vulnerable 
residents. 
 
Following a question on how long would it take the refuse collection 
officers to become accustomed to the new rounds, Members were 
informed about 4 to 6 weeks. The refuse collection officers will 
receive maps of the new rounds the week commencing 16th January 
and will therefore have time become accustomed to the reconfigured 
rounds before going live. 
 
The Head of Operations informed Members that the Christmas period 
went well for the service and that only ten complaints have been 
received. The Panel would like to thank the waste collection officers 
for their hard work. 
 
A Member suggested putting information on the waste round 
reconfiguration in doctors surgeries, as some residents will read the 
information available whilst waiting for their appointment. 
 
Members were informed that the service can’t reduce the amount of 
recycling rounds as they take longer to complete due to volume of 
recycling and the contamination checks that the waste collection 
officers have to carry out.  
 
In response to the question why can a resident receive a second blue 
bin for free but are charged for a second green bin. The Panel were 
informed that the Council are the statutory authority for collecting 
waste and recycling but not for garden waste so therefore the garden 
waste service is completely discretionary. 
 
The Panel agreed to recommend to Cabinet that they should endorse 
the re-profiled live date of 27th February 2017. 
 

70. OPEN SPACES WATER SAFETY POLICY - IMPLEMENTATION 
REPORT   

 
 With the aid of a report by the Head of Operations (a copy of which is 

appended in the Minute Book) the Open Spaces Water Safety Policy 
– Implementation Report was presented to the Panel. 
 
Members were informed that establishing the fact that the Council 
requires an Open Spaces Water Safety Policy, a draft Policy was 
developed based on advice from the Royal Society for the Prevention 
of Accidents (RoSPA). The Royal Life Saving Society (RLSS) were 
engaged to review the draft after a competitive tender. 
 
In response to a question regarding the sites listed in section five of 
the Policy, Members were informed that they are all owned by the 
Council and that the Policy only covers static bodies of water owned 
by the Council.  
 

7



Following a question could the Council assist parish councils with 
their static bodies of water, the Panel was informed that the Council 
are able to assist with risk assessment however the Council have no 
obligation to assist parish councils. 
 
Concerns were raised in relation to all Operations Policies as well as 
Health and Safety Policies. A Member stated that there was little 
oversight from Members to ensure that Policies are working well and 
that officers are adequately trained to implement the Policies. The 
Head of Operations informed the Panel that officers’ health and safety 
training is kept up to date. 
 
The Panel recommended that the Cabinet endorse the Policy. 
 
(At 7.44pm, during the consideration of this item, Councillor G J Bull 
left the meeting and did not return.) 
 

71. CCTV TASK AND FINISH GROUP   
 

 With the aid of a scoping document (a copy of which is appended in 
the Minute Book), the Panel discussed the terms of reference for the 
CCTV Task and Finish Group. 
 
The Chairman updated the Panel on the membership of the Task and 
Finish Group and informed them that he is working with Officers and 
the Members of the Group towards setting the dates of the meetings. 
 
(At 7.58pm, during the consideration of this item, Councillor J White 
left the meeting and did not return.) 
 

72. WORK PLAN STUDIES   
 

 The Panel received and noted a report by the Democratic Services 
Officer (Scrutiny) (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) 
which contained details of studies being undertaken by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panels Economy and Growth and Performance and 
Customers. 
 
Following a query the Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) will 
review the allocation of the topic ‘Community Resilience Plan’ on the 
work programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Economy and 
Growth). 
 

73. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROGRESS   
 

 With the aid of a report by the Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) 
(a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) the Panel reviewed 
the progress of its activities since the last meeting. 
 
The Panel have requested that a representative of the Children and 
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) attends a future Panel 
meeting. 

 
 
 

 
Chairman

8



 

 
 

NOTICE OF EXECUTIVE KEY DECISIONS INCLUDING THOSE TO BE CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE 
 

Prepared by Councillor R B Howe, Executive Leader of the Council  
Date of Publication: 15 February 2017 
For Period: 1 March 2017 to 30 June 2017 
 

Membership of the Cabinet is as follows:- 
 

Councillor R B Howe  Executive Leader of the Council 
 

The Old Barn 
High Street 
Upwood 
Huntingdon   PE26 2QE 
 
Tel:  01487 814393          E-mail:  Robin.Howe@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
  

Councillor D Brown Executive Councillor for Commercialisation and 
Shared Services 

Haycroft 
Porch Farm Barns 
Warboys Road 
Old Hurst   PE28 3AA 
 
Tel:  07970 462048           E-mail: Daryl.Brown@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
  

Councillor G J Bull Deputy Executive Leader 2 Lancaster Close  
Old Hurst 
Huntingdon   PE28 3BB 
 
Tel:  07780 511928           E-mail:- Graham.Bull@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

Councillor S Cawley Executive Councillor for Transformation and 
Customers 

6 Levers Water  
Huntingdon  PE29 6TH 
 
Tel:  01480 435188 E-mail:  Stephen.Cawley@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Mrs A Dickinson Executive Councillor for Community Resilience 
 
 
 
 
 

Priory Holme 
Priory Road 
St Ives 
Cambs  PE28 3DJ 
Tel:  01480 495445        E-mail:  Angie.Dickinson@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 

9

A
genda Item

 3

mailto:Robin.Howe@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:Daryl.Brown@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:Graham.Bull@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:Stephen.Cawley@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:Angie.Dickinson@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


Councillor R Fuller Executive Councillor for Housing and Regulatory 
Services 

19 Pettis Road 
St Ives 
Huntingdon 
Cambridgeshire 
PE27 6SR                       E-mail: Ryan.Fuller@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 
Tel:  01480 388311 
 

Councillor J A Gray   Executive Councillor for Strategic Resources Vine Cottage 
2 Station Road 
Catworth  PE28 OPE 
 
Tel:  01832 710799            E-mail: Jonathan.Gray@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

Councillor R Harrison Executive Councillor for Growth 
 

55 Bushmead Road  
Eaton Socon 
St Neots  PE19 8GC 
 
Tel:  01480 406664 E-mail:  Roger.Harrison@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
  

 

Councillor J M Palmer  Executive Councillor for Health and Well-Being 149 Great Whyte  
Ramsey 
Huntingdon 
Cambridgeshire  PE26 1HP  
 
Tel:  01487 814063 E-mail:  John.Palmer@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
  

Councillor J White  
 
 
 

Executive Councillor for Operations 49 High Street 
Spaldwick 
Huntingdon   PE28 OTD 
 
Tel:  01480 890451        E-mail:  Jim.White@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
 
Notice is hereby given of: 
 

 Key decisions that will be taken by the Cabinet (or other decision maker) 

 Confidential or exempt executive decisions that will be taken in a meeting from which the public will be excluded (for whole or part). 
 
A notice/agenda together with reports and supporting documents for each meeting will be published at least five working days before the date of the meeting.  In order to enquire about the 
availability of documents and subject to any restrictions on their disclosure, copies may be requested by contacting the Democratic Services Team on 01480 388169 or E-mail 
Democratic.Services@huntingdonshire.gov.uk. 
 
Agendas may be accessed electronically at www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk. 
 

10

mailto:Ryan.Fuller@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:Jonathan.Gray@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:Roger.Harrison@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:John.Palmer@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:Jim.White@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
mailto:Democratic.Services@huntingdonshire.gov.uk
http://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/


Formal notice is hereby given under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that, where indicated part of the meetings 
listed in this notice will be held in private because the agenda and reports for the meeting will contain confidential or exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.  See the relevant paragraphs below. 
 
Any person who wishes to make representations to the decision maker about a decision which is to be made or wishes to object to an item being considered in private may do so by emailing 
Democratic.Services@huntingdonshire.gov.uk.or by contacting the Democratic Services Team. If representations are received at least eight working days before the date of the meeting, they will 
be published with the agenda together with a statement of the District Council’s response.  Any representations received after this time will be verbally reported and considered at the meeting. 
 
Paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) (Reason for the report to be considered in private) 
 

1. Information relating to any individual 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
3. Information relating to the Financial and Business Affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that information) 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations or contemplated consultations or negotiations in connection with any labour relations that are arising between the Authority or a 

Minister of the Crown and employees of or office holders under the Authority 
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings 
6. Information which reveals that the Authority proposes:- 

(a) To give under any announcement a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) To make an Order or Direction under any enactment 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 
 
 

Huntingdonshire District Council 
Pathfinder House 
St Mary's Street 
Huntingdon PE29 3TN. 
 
Notes:- (i) Additions changes from the previous Forward Plan are annotated *** 
 (ii) Part II confidential items which will be considered in private are annotated ## and shown in italic. 
 

 

Subject/Matter 
for Decision 

Decision/ 
recommendation 

to be made by 

Date 
decision to 

be taken 

Documents 
Available 

How relevant Officer 
can be contacted 

Reasons for the 
report to be 

considered in 
private. 

Relevant    
Executive 
Councillor 

Relevant 
Overview & 

Scrutiny Panel 

 
New Cambridgeshire 
Housing Adaptations 
Agreement and 
Refreshed 
Huntingdonshire 
Housing Renewal 
Assistance Policy 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
16 Mar 2017 
 

 
 
 

 
Caroline Hannon, Housing Strategy Manager 
Tel No. 01480 388203 or email: 
caroline.hannon@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
R Fuller 
 

 
Communities 
and 
Environment 
 

11

mailto:Democratic.Services@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


Subject/Matter 
for Decision 

Decision/ 
recommendation 

to be made by 

Date 
decision to 

be taken 

Documents 
Available 

How relevant Officer 
can be contacted 

Reasons for the 
report to be 

considered in 
private 

Relevant    
Executive 
Councillor 

Relevant 
Overview & 

Scrutiny Panel 

 
Corporate Plan - 
Refresh 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
16 Mar 2017 
 

 
 
 

 
Adrian Dobbyne, Corporate Team Manager, 
Tel No. 01480 388100 or Email: 
Adrian.Dobbyne@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
R Howe 
 

 
Performance 
and Customers 
 

 
Memoranda of 
Understanding with 
the Local Enterprise 
Partnership *** 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
16 Mar 2017 
 

 
 
 

 
Andy Moffat, Head of Development Tel No. 
01480 388400 or 
Email:andy.moffat@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
R Harrison 
 

 
Economy and 
Growth 
 

 
The Huntingdonshire 
Design Guide *** 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
16 Mar 2017 
 

 
 
 

 
Clara Kerr, Planning Services Manager Tel 
No. 01480 388430 or Email: 
Clara.Kerr@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
R Harrison 
 

 
Economy and 
Growth 
 

 
Provisional 
Agreement for 
Transfer of Loan***## 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
16 Mar 2017 
 

 
Due Diligence Report 
- EXEMPT 
 

 
Clive Mason, Head of Resources Tel No. 
01480 388157 or 
email:Clive.Mason@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
 Paragraph 3 

 
J A Gray 
 

 
Performance 
and Customers 
 

 
Housing Strategy *** 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
20 Apr 2017 
 

 
 
 

 
Andy Moffat, Head of Development Tel No. 
01480 388400 or email: 
Andy.Moffatt@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
R Fuller 
 

 
Economy and 
Growth 
 

 
Corporate 
Enforcement Policy 
*** 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
20 Apr 2017 
 

 
 
 

 
Chris Stopford, Head of Community Services 
Tel No. 01480 388280 or email: 
Chris.Stopford@hutnigdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
R Fuller 
 

 
Communities 
and 
Environment 
 

 
Agreement for 
Transfer of Loan***## 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
22 Jun 2017 
 

 
Due Diligence Report 
 

 
Clive Mason, Head of Resources Tel No. 
01480 388157 or email 
Clive.Mason@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
 Paragraph 3 

 
J A Gray 
 

 
Performance 
and Customers 
 

 
CCTV (Full Business 
Case) *** 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
22 Jun 2017 
 

 
 
 

 
Anthony Kemp, Interim Corporate Director 
(Services) Tel No. 01480 388301 or email: 
Anthony.Kemp@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
D Brown 
 

 
Performance 
and Customers 
 

 

12



 

Public 
Key Decision - Yes 

 

 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
Title/Subject Matter: Cambridgeshire Adaptations Agreement and 

Huntingdonshire Housing Renewal Assistance Policy 
 
Meeting/Date: Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Communities and 

Environment) – 7th March 2017 
 Cabinet – 16th March 2017 
  
Executive Portfolio: Cllr Ryan Fuller, Executive Member for Housing and 

Regulatory Services 
 
Report by: Caroline Hannon, Housing Strategy Manager 
 
Ward(s) affected: All  
 

 
Executive Summary:  

 
 
This report provides Members with: 

 a copy of the Cambridgeshire Housing Adaptations Agreement (which is a 

joint agreement between Cambridge City Council (CCityC), East 

Cambridgeshire District Council (ECDC), Fenland District Council (FDC), 

Huntingdonshire District Council (HDC), South Cambridgeshire District 

Council (SCDC) and Cambridgeshire County Council (CCC) in partnership 

with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

which establishes a joint strategic approach to delivering housing adaptations 

from 1st April 2017 to ensure the best use of the capital resources available 

through the Better Care Fund (BCF). 

 a copy of the refreshed HDC Housing Renewal Assistance Policy which has 

been updated to complement the adaptations agreement. 

 
Recommendation(s): 
The Overview and Scrutiny Panel is invited to comment on the Cambridgeshire 
Housing Adaptations Agreement and the HDC Housing Renewal Assistance Policy. 
  
The Cabinet is asked to 

 endorse the Cambs Housing Adaptations Agreement which establishes a 
joint strategic approach to delivering housing adaptations to ensure the best 
use of the capital resources available through Better Care Fund. 

 approve the refreshed HDC Housing Renewal Assistance Policy which has 
been updated to complement the adaptations agreement. 

 
 
 
 
 

13

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Cambridgeshire Executive Partnership Board (CEPB - multi-agency 

partnership overseeing health and social care service transformation for older 
people and vulnerable adults) commissioned a review aimed at taking a wider 
and more strategic approach to delivery of housing adaptations encompassing 
both capital (Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) and revenue funds available 
from all sources as a result of the increased DFG funding available. 

 
1.2 The review which commenced in February 2016 and reported to Adults 

Committee at Cambs County Council (CCC) in November 2016 made 3 key 
findings: 

 New services are needed that consider people’s needs in 

context, including early conversations and planning for the longer 

term: services need to engage with people before they need an 

adaptation, and should encourage people to think about whether 

the accommodation they are living in is suitable for the longer 

term. 

 Existing services need to adapt to support a growing population: 

performance in many parts of the county is too slow in the 

implementation of adaptations funded through DFGs. It is 

recommended that the ability to ‘fast track’ commonly requested 

small adaptations (e.g. level access showers) be introduced and 

that a full review of existing processes and procedures is needed 

to speed up the DFG process. 

 Funding arrangements across the system will need to change to 

support a shift in focus: the significant increase in capital funding 

offers new opportunities for the Home Improvement Agencies 

(HIAs) to generate more fees and become financially self-

sustainable. 

1.3 As a result of these findings, a Cambridgeshire Housing Adaptations 
Agreement has been drafted (Appendix 1) containing principles that the 
partners can sign up to, including flexible use of the DFG Capital allocation 
for other grants, relocation expenses and “fast track” adaptations. It also 
includes provision for the District Councils to use an element of the DFG 
Capital Allocation to provide Top-up grants or loans that are currently the 
responsibility of the County Council. This will remove a significant amount of 
duplication of officer time and confusion for vulnerable households who 
currently apply to both the District and County Councils.   

 
1.4 The HDC Housing Renewals policy (Appendix 2) has been updated to take 

account of the findings of the CEPB review and the joint adaptations 
agreement, the updated information is within Appendix Six.    

 
2. WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY/BACKGROUND 

  
2.1 The importance of housing adaptations in supporting people to live more 

independently in their own homes and communities has increasingly been 
recognised nationally.  In 2016/17 there was a significant uplift in funding for 
DFGs distributed across all 5 District Councils via the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
from £1.9 million in 2015/16 to £3.4 million. Further increases in DFG funding 
are expected year on year until 2020 although these have yet to be confirmed. 

14



2.2 The BCF is a pooled budget between local authorities and CCG to encourage a 
joined-up approach to improving outcomes across health, social care and 
housing.  DFGs are funded from a financial allocation (called the DFG Capital 
Allocation) which District Councils receive to assist with the provision of 
adaptations in line with responsibilities under the Regulatory Reform (Housing 
Assistance) Order 2002. This allocation is delivered via the Better Care Fund 
(BCF), under which money passes from the Department of Health in Central 
Government, through County Councils, to District Councils. 

 
2.3   HDC’s Housing Renewal Assistance Policy was last reviewed in November 

2014.  The policy has now been updated to reflect the adaptations agreement.  
Historically, HDC has tended to prioritise funding towards DFGs which are 
mandatory rather than towards the elements in the Housing Renewal 
Assistance Policy.  For the last year HDC has not made any funding available 
for the other elements of the Housing Renewal Policy.   

 
2.4    The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) Order 2002 provides scope for 

capital resources received from BCF to be used more flexibly to deliver 
improved outcomes.  This was also highlighted in the findings of the CEPB 
review which indicated that ‘funding arrangements across the system will need 
to change to support a shift in focus’. 

 
2.5 The adaptations agreement includes the following elements which will be 

reflected in the refreshed HDC Housing Renewal Assistance Policy:  
 

Mandatory 
Disabled 
Facilities 
Grant 

A grant provided to eligible households to enable them to 
continue to live safely in their home. 

Discretionary 
Minor Repair 
Assistance 

A grant paid to home owners who are in receipt of an 
appropriate welfare benefit to provide minor repairs to keep 
them safe and warm. Maximum grant £5,000. 
 

Disabled 
Facilities 
Top Up 
Assistance 

An interest free loan paid to property owners or a grant paid to 
Registered Provider tenants to enable relevant DFG work to 
proceed where the total cost of the work exceeds the maximum 
DFG amount. A simple means test will apply.  
 

Disabled 
Persons 
Relocation 
Grant 

A grant paid to cover the cost of moving to alternative 
accommodation where the applicant is eligible for a DFG but 
the cost of moving is less than the cost of adapting the home.  
Maximum grant £5,000 
 

Special 
Purpose 
Assistance 

A non-means tested grant of up to £3,000 to provide low cost 
adaptations or improvement works which are not eligible for a 
DFG and which may facilitate a person to return home from 
hospital or enable a disabled person to continue to live safely in 
their home 

 
2.6  The table below provides a summary of the five elements of the current HDC 

Housing Renewals Policy and indicates whether they will remain, be withdrawn 
or altered by the refreshed policy:  

 

Repair 
Assistance  

This will be replaced by the new element: Discretionary Minor 
Repairs Assistance.  Funding will be reduced from a maximum 
of £20,000 to £5,000 per application to achieve greater value 
from the budget. 

15



Landlord 
Grant 

The policy enabled landlords to apply for grants to undertake 
repairs or improvements to private rented properties.  No 
landlord grants have been awarded since 2012/13 as HDC did 
not provide a budget and accordingly the removal of this policy 
element should not have any impact. 
 

Disabled 
Facilities Top 
up 
Assistance 

This element of the policy will remain.  Although HDC removed 
the budget for this in 2016/17 it is considered essential that we 
utilise BCF resources to implement this element to ensure 
complex DFG cases have a means of being resolved.  CCC 
has withdrawn their funding for top ups as a result of the BCF 
being passed on to districts. 
 

Special 
Purpose 
Assistance 

This element will remain.  However it will be changed to 
provide a grant rather than a loan as the primary purpose is to 
provide fast track adaptations such as in the case of hospital 
discharges.  The provision of a loan takes much longer to 
process due to the associated paperwork and checks. 
 

Disabled 
Persons 
Relocation 
Grant 

This element will remain. 

Boiler 
Replacement 
Scheme 

This will be withdrawn but applications for boilers can be 
submitted through the Discretionary Minor Repairs Assistance 
policy. 
 

 
2.7     Appendix Six of the refreshed Housing Renewal Assistance Policy sets out the 

proposed changes to the current approved policy document. 
 
2.8 Whilst the housing adaptations agreement is seeking to encourage the flexible 

use of the DFG capital allocation, Section 1.4 of the agreement does enable 
HDC to prioritise funding towards mandatory DFGs and to only provide the 
other elements of the agreement if there is sufficient capital to do so. 

 
3. OPTIONS CONSIDERED/ANALYSIS 

 
3.1 Do not agree to the joint adaptations agreement and do not refresh the Housing 

Renewal Assistance Policy: 
This option was ruled out as it does not meet the wider objectives of the Better 
Care Fund to take a joined-up approach to improving outcomes across health, 
social care and housing.  Additionally taking a flexible approach to allocating 
resources enables HDC to implement its Housing Renewal Assistance Policy 
without investing any additional resources. 

 
4. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

 
4.1 The comments of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel will be included in 

this section of the report prior to its consideration by the Cabinet. 
 
5. KEY IMPACTS / RISKS 
 
5.1 The HDC Housing Renewal Assistance Policy which has not had a budget 

attached to it in recent years can now be funded directly from BCF resources.  
This will provide residents in Huntingdonshire with a wider range of services 
available to them and will ultimately improve the housing stock in the district. 

16



6. WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN/TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 
 
6.1 The Cambs Adaptations Agreement will come into force once it has been 

approved by all local authorities.   
 
6.2 The refreshed Housing Renewal Assistance Policy will come into force with 

effect from 1st April 2017. 
 
7. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND / OR 

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 
 
7.1 The Corporate Plan work programme includes “enabling people to live 

independently through the provision of adaptation and accessible housing”. 
 
8. CONSULTATION 
 
8.1 Liaison with CCC, CCityC, ECDC, FDC, SCDC. 

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1 Reducing the number of loans which are available will reduce the necessity to 

place local land charges. 
 
10. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 No resource implications for HDC as the Housing Renewal Assistance Policy 

will be funded from the BCF allocation.  There is significant demand for DFGs in 
Huntingdonshire and they will continue to be funded as a priority over other 
elements of the Housing Renewal Assistance Policy.    

 
10.2 CCC will no longer provide DFG Top up assistance and their funding for this will 

cease.   However the additional resources provided to HDC by BCF will provide 
a budget for this policy element. 

 
10.3 No additional Officer time will be required as this will be managed within existing 

resources. 
  
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS  
 
11.1 The Cambs Adaptations Agreement and refreshed Housing Renewals 

Assistance Policy enable the flexible use of the BCF allocation which will 
improve the housing stock overall and provide a more strategic approach to 
housing adaptations across Cambridgeshire whilst continuing to enable people 
to live independently.  The new policy elements will provide a fast track system 
which will enable people to be discharged from hospital more timely and will 
also create a mechanism to resolve complex cases which exceed the DFG limit.     

 
12. LIST OF APPENDICES INCLUDED 
 
12.1 Appendix 1 - Copy of adaptations agreement 
 Appendix 2 - Copy of refreshed housing renewal assistance policy  
 Appendix 3 - Copy of Adults committee report 
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
Name/Job Title: Caroline Hannon, Housing Strategy Manager 
Tel No: 07920 160566 or 01480 388203 
Email: caroline.hannon@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Cambridgeshire 
 

Housing Adaptations 
Agreement  

 
 
 
A joint agreement of: 
Cambridge City Council 
East Cambridgeshire District Council 
Fenland District Council 
Huntingdonshire District Council 
South Cambridgeshire District Council 
Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
In partnership with 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

 
 
 
Prepared in line with the aims and 
aspirations of the Better Care Fund  
 

19



 

 2 

 
 
 
CONTENTS:        Page  
 
Section 1 – Background and Strategic Context 
 
1.1 Introduction     
 
1.2 Strategic Context and Key Priorities  
 
1.3 Purpose and Scope of this document 
 
1.4 Capital Resources 
 
Section 2 – Developing a Joint Adaptations Policy 
 
2.1 Providing a Framework 
 
2.2 Delivering Adaptations 
 
2.3 Types of assistance available  
 
 
Section 3 – Implementation and Review  
 
3.1 Implementation 
 
3.2 Performance monitoring 
 
3.3 Review  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20



 

 3 

 
SECTION 1 – Background and Strategic Context 

 

1.1 Introduction 

The funding for Disabled Facilities Grants and other Grant was historically awarded 

to the district housing authorities directly from the Department of Communities and 

Local Government.  

 

In 2008/09 the government extended the scope of the Regulatory Reform Order 

(2002) to include use of the DFG Capital Allocation. This allowed authorities to use 

the capital allocation on other types of adaptations, repairs and assistance. The 

Cambridgeshire authorities hadn’t adopted this approach and continued to use the 

DFG Allocation purely for disabled facilities grants; funding their RRO policy 

initiatives through separate capital funding directly from their own capital budgets.   

 

In 2014 the Government recognised the contribution good, accessible, warm and 

safe housing makes to improved health and social care outcomes and passed the 

DFG Allocation capital funding to the Department of Health to be included in the 

Better Care Fund. This was then passed down to the housing authorities by the 

County Council as required by BCF regulation.  

 

The inclusion of the DFG Capital Allocation within the BCF and the new focus on 

housing working more closely with health and social care triggered the five district 

housing authorities, the County Council and the CCG to carry out a Review of DFGs 

and adaptations in Cambridgeshire led by the County Council as a project within the 

Older People’s Accommodation Strategy. The review was initiated in early 2016 at 

the same time as the Government announced a significant increase in the DFG 

Capital allocation. In Cambridgeshire this meant an increase in capital allocation from 

£1.9m to £3.4m. The DFG Review was completed in September 2016 and resulted in 

three key findings: 

 

1. New services are needed that consider people’s needs in context, including 

early conversations and planning for the longer term. 

2. Existing services will need to adapt to support a growing population 

3. Funding arrangements across the system will need to change to support a 

shift in focus.  

 

21



 

 4 

A key recommendation of the Review was to develop a joint policy across the 

partners to allow the more flexible use of the increased DFG Capital Allocation in line 

with the Better Care Fund focus on delivering health priorities and outcomes. The 

allocation cannot be spent more flexibly without the adoption of a Policy.  

 

1.2      Strategic Context and Key Priorities 

As the DFG capital allocation is now directed from the Department of Health through 

the Better Care Fund, the BCF Plan is the overarching strategic document that 

partners are now working to.  

 

Cambridgeshire Better Care Fund Plan 2016/17.  

As part of preparing the BCF Plan for Cambridgeshire, all organisations in 

Cambridgeshire agreed to the following vision for health and social care services:  

 
Over the next five years in Cambridgeshire we want to move to a system in which 

health and social care help people to help themselves and the majority of people’s 

needs are met through family and community support where appropriate. This 

support will focus on returning people to independence as far as possible with more 

intensive and longer term support available to those that need it.  

This shift is ambitious. It means moving money away from acute health services 

typically provided in hospital and from ongoing social care support. This cannot be 

achieved immediately – such services are usually funded on a demand-led basis and 

provided as they are needed in order to avoid people being left untreated or 

unsupported when they have had a crisis. Therefore reducing spending is only 

possible if fewer people have crises: something which experience suggests has 

never happened before. However this is required if services are to be sustainable in 

the medium and long term.  

 

Other strategies also recognise the crucial role that suitable housing plays in 

enabling people to live independently at home highlighting this in their own strategic 

priorities and outcomes: 

 Health & Wellbeing Strategy; 

 Cambridgeshire County Council Business Plan 

 CCG - System Transformation Plan  

 Cambridge Sub-regional Housing Statement 

 District Housing Strategies 

 

22



 

 5 

1.3      The Purpose and Scope of this Document  

The purpose of this Agreement is to join together a common understanding of the 

strategic priorities of the five district housing authorities, the County Council and the 

Clinical Commissioning Group, to acknowledge the value good housing makes 

towards supporting these priorities and outcomes, and a framework from which to 

develop a shared Adaptations Policy across the district housing authorities.  

 

The aim is to make best use of the Capital resources available through the Better 

Care Fund in Cambridgeshire and to promote partnership working and consistency of 

service for all residents of Cambridgeshire in order to meet the partners’ shared 

priorities. This Joint Agreement is designed to provide a framework for a consistent 

approach to the use of capital resources for adapting the homes of vulnerable people 

in order to maintain independent living for longer.  

 

The Better Care Fund Policy Framework 2016/17 states: ‘The Disabled Facilities 

Grant (DFG) will again be allocated through the Better Care Fund. Local housing 

authority representatives should therefore be involved in developing and agreeing the 

plan, in order to ensure a joined-up approach to improving outcomes across health, 

social care and housing’.  This Agreement demonstrates the partners commitment to 

adopting a joined up approach.  

 

Independence at home may not necessarily be achieved by keeping people in the 

home they are currently living in by carrying out repairs and adaptations, but also 

through the provision of positive options to re-locate where appropriate. Where 

adaptations are required, this Agreement supports the delivery of high quality works 

in as short a time as possible.  

 

Any policy developed by the district housing authorities as a result of this Agreement 

will ensure the best use of resources to achieve shared aims while recognising that 

there may be local policy differences within each district area. It is anticipated that 

although the aim is to agree a common policy, each district will expect to retain local 

initiatives, procedures, application processes and approvals.  

 

 

 

 

 

23



 

 6 

1.4     Capital Resources 

 

BCF Capital Allocation 

The DFG Capital Allocation for Cambridgeshire has increased from £1.9 in 2015/16 

to £3.4m in 2016/17. This is allocated across the districts as shown in the table 

below. While at the time of writing the actual amounts for 2017/18 onwards are 

unknown, it is expected that the total DFG Capital Allocation will increase nationally 

by 2019/20 to £500m providing incremental increases across the County.  

 

Local Authority Previous DFG Capital 

Allocation 15/16 

Current DFG Capital 

Allocation 16/17 

Cambridge £304,000 £576,272 

Fenland £498,545 £844,881 

Huntingdonshire £549,000 £1,018,751 

E Cambridgeshire £260,000 £472,949 

S Cambridgeshire £312,241 £566,013 

Total £1,923,786 £3,478,886 

 

This Capital allocation is currently passed from the County Council to the districts in 

full. However this Agreement allows the individual district housing authorities, if they 

choose, to return capital to the County Council in appropriate circumstances. If this is 

agreed locally the County Council will use any such funds to complement its 

equipment and minor adaptations functions.   

 

While this policy is designed to encourage flexible use of the DFG Capital Allocation, 

the availability of sufficient capital to meet the need for mandatory Disabled Facilities 

Grants should be seen as a priority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

24



 

 7 

SECTION 2 – Developing a Joint Adaptations Policy  

 

2.1 Providing a Framework 

This Joint Agreement on Housing Adaptations provides a framework from which the 

districts will work towards developing a Joint Adaptations Policy.  

 

Partners will take into account the responsibility of owners to primarily maintain their 

own properties. However it also considers their ability to do so, their access to 

sufficient resources to carry out any necessary works, and the vulnerability of the 

different groups, especially in terms of maintaining independent living, reducing the 

number of older people moving into care homes due to inadequate housing and 

ensuring that people do not remain in hospital longer than necessary due to their 

housing circumstances at home. 

 

2.2  Delivering adaptations 

While the decisions to approve Grants remain with the local housing authorities 

across Cambridgeshire, Home Improvement Agencies (HIAs) provide support and 

professional technical advice to ensure that the works are carried out to a satisfactory 

standard, and that they meet the applicant’s needs.  

 

For most grants a fee is charged by the HIA which is covered by the grant (up to the 

maximum grant available). District partners will make their own decisions regarding 

the level of fees charged in their areas, balancing demands on their HIA services, the 

level of capital available, the amount of fee income required to provide an effective 

HIA service and the impact on clients of any fee increase. 

 

2.3 Types of assistance available  

 

The partners to this Agreement agree that within any Joint Adaptations Policy there 

will be provision for the following elements: 

 

2.3.1 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants  

The district housing authorities award Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) 

according to the governing legislation and guidance issued by Central Government, 

which determines amongst other things the maximum amount of grant, the type of 

work that can be funded, the maximum contribution to be made and the test of 

financial resources that must be applied. 

25



 

 8 

There is an expectation that performance on the time taken to deliver DFGs will 

improve and that performance measures and targets will be set. Districts agree to 

consider how they can fast-track standard adaptations either within or outside of the 

DFG framework and any policy will provide sufficient flexibility to facilitate this.  

 

2.3.2 Discretionary Minor Repair Grants  

The Joint Adaptations Policy should allow discretion, where capital funding allows, to 

provide Minor Repairs Grants for small works of repair, for example, to replace or 

repair rotted woodwork, minor electrical works, rainwater goods or other repairs that 

are not classed as adaptations and may include promoting warm homes and energy 

efficiency measures. 

 

The partners acknowledge that this type of work while not being an ‘adaptation’ to a 

home, can contribute towards the overall Better Care Fund outcomes of maintaining 

a vulnerable person’s good health, independence and overall wellbeing.  

 

2.3.3 Financial Assistance (Top up) Grant or Loan  

In some cases the cost of works eligible for a Disabled Facilities Grant amounts to 

more than the maximum amount of grant (currently £30,000). In other cases the 

applicant is liable under the means test to make a contribution. The County Council 

and some district housing authorities have previously provided top-up grants or loans 

in certain circumstances in order to provide funds to enable the works to go ahead 

and therefore meet client’s needs. 

 

The partners agree that within a Joint Adaptations Policy provision will be made from 

the DFG Capital Allocation for Top-up Grants or loans, and that the County Council’s 

Social Care responsibility towards meeting the needs of vulnerable households will 

be included, but with the decisions being made locally by the district councils. The 

detail of this element of the policy will be jointly agreed between the district partners 

and the County Council.   

 

2.3.4 Disabled Persons Relocation Grants  

All partners support the inclusion of a Disabled Persons Relocation Grant that can be 

considered when it is not straightforward or possible to adapt a disabled persons 

existing accommodation and a suitable alternative property can be identified.  

 

26



 

 9 

This Grant would contribute towards the cost of moving and may include the payment 

of removal expenses, estate agent’s fees, redecoration, etc. 

 

2.3.5 Special Purpose Grants  

In addition, the partners support the Better Care funds support of the use of the DFG 

Capital Allocation in the most flexible way and this Agreement supports the 

development of the policy and use of the funding for other initiatives for example:  

 Home energy grants 

 Boiler replacement 

 Warm Homes initiatives including thermal insulation 

 Remedying HHSRS Cat 1 hazards 

 Security measures 

 Additional specialist equipment  

 Health Prevention initiatives 

 Fuel Efficiency initiatives 

 Housing Options advice and support 

 Hospital discharge initiatives 

 Handyperson services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

27



 

 10 

Section 3 – Implementation and Review  

 

3.1  Implementation 

This Agreement will be implemented and come into effect when signed by the 

partners. All district housing authorities agree to review their local Regulatory Reform 

Order Repairs and Renewal policies adopting the principles contained within this 

Agreement with new policies to come into effect locally on 1st April 2017.  

Partners also agree to work towards agreeing a Cambridgeshire Joint Adaptations 

Policy in partnership with the County Council by 1st April 2018. 

 

3.2 Performance monitoring  

At the time of writing the Better Care Fund has no specific performance measures 

around the DFG Capital Allocation, however it is envisaged that these will be 

forthcoming in future years. In the meantime, local performance targets will be 

developed especially in relation to time taken to deliver adaptations.  

 

The provision of a Transitional Revenue Grant from the County Council in 2017/18 to 

the district councils in order to support the provision of home improvement agency 

services will include some performance targets which will be monitored by partners.  

 

3.3 Review 

This Agreement will be reviewed during 2018/19 following development of the Joint 

Adaptations Policy to ensure it is up to date and relevant in light of any future Better 

Care Fund Guidance and further local initiatives. 

 

 

Add signatories of all partners below 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
Housing Renewal Assistance 

Policy Document 
 
 

Housing Services 
(Reviewed February 2017) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



 

 2 

Huntingdonshire District Council 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The Government has approved an Order (the Regulatory Reform (Housing 

Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002).  
2. Article 3 of the Order gives local authorities the power to provide assistance 

(either directly or indirectly) to any person for the purpose of improving living 
conditions in the local authority area.  

3. Paragraph (3) of article 3 allows that assistance may be provided in any form. 
4. The Order provides that the power may be exercised subject to certain 

qualifications detailed in article 3. 
5. Paragraph (4) of article 3 gives local housing authorities the power to make 

assistance subject to certain conditions, including making repayment or a 
contribution. 

6. Article 4 of the Order prevents local housing authorities from exercising their 
article 3 power unless they have adopted a policy for the provision of assistance 
under that article. 

7. Article 11 of the Order makes amendments to the Housing Grants, Construction 
and Regeneration Act 1996 in accordance with Schedule 3 of the Order.    

 
 
The purpose and scope of this document  
 
In accordance with article 4 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England 
and Wales) Order 2002, this document sets out in full the policy that has been 
adopted by Huntingdonshire District Council, and includes details of – 
 
(a) how the Council intends to exercise its article 3 powers and ensure that the 

statutory qualifications to that power are observed; 
(b) the types of assistance the Council may make available; 
(c) the circumstances in which persons will be eligible for assistance; 
(d) how the amount of any assistance awarded will be calculated; 
(e) the conditions that will apply to the provision of assistance; 
(f) how and in what circumstances any assistance made may be repaid.  
 
 
Appendix one to this document consists of specimen forms and notices used for the 
application and administration of assistance. 
 
Appendix Two to the document reproduces the Order.     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



 

 3 

Definitions 
 
Unless the context requires otherwise, in this document the expression in the first 
column shall have the meaning in the second column and any reference to a statute 
or a statutory instrument within the document shall include any amendments to it. 
 
“he”  he or she 
 
“the Order”   the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and 

Wales) Order 2002 made under the Regulatory Reform Act 
2001 on 18 July 2002 as statutory instrument 2002 No. 
1860. 

 
“the Council” Huntingdonshire District Council. 
 
“the District” Huntingdonshire District 
 
“the 1996 Act”   the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 

1996 
 
“the Policy” the Council’s policy for the provision of assistance under 

article 3 and as required by article 4(a) of the Order 
 
“living 
accommodation” 

has the same meaning as in article 2 of the Order 

 
“dwelling” a building or part of a building occupied or intended to be 

occupied as a separate dwelling, together with any yard, 
garden, outhouses and appurtenances belonging to it and 
usually enjoyed with it; or a qualifying houseboat or a 
qualifying park home 

 
“qualifying houseboat” has the same meaning as in section 58 of the 1996 Act as 

amended by the Order 
 

 
“qualifying park home” has the same meaning as in section 58 of the 1996 Act as 

amended by the Order 
 

 
“disabled” has the same meaning as in section 100 of the 1996 Act 
 
“disabled occupant” has the same meaning as in section 20 of the 1996 Act 

 
 
“household”   the person or persons who occupy a dwelling as their only 

or main residence. 
 
“free equity”   capital value not encumbered by any charge or restriction 
 
“statutory tenancy” a tenancy within the meaning of the Rent Act 1977 or the 

Rent (Agriculture) Act 1976. 
 
“market rent”   the rent payable under a tenancy that is not a statutory 

31



 

 4 

tenancy. 
 

 
“family” has the same meaning as section 113 of the Housing Act 

1985. 
 
 
“repair assistance” has the meaning assigned to it in paragraphs 1.2 and 1.3 of 

the Policy 
 
“disabled facilities 
assistance” 

has the meaning assigned to it in paragraphs 1.2 and 1.4 of 
the Policy  

 
“assistance” 
 
“relevant disposal” 
 
 
“exempt disposal” 
 
 
“top up assistance” 
 
 
“special purposes 
assistance” 
 
“disabled persons’ 
relocation grant” 
 
“Head of Housing 
Services” 
 
 
“Head of Revenue 
Services”  
 
“Head of Legal and 
Estates” 
 
 
 
“tenant nomination 
and rent setting 
agreement” 
 

repair assistance or disabled facilities assistance 
 
has the meaning assigned to it in paragraph 9.12 of 
Chapter 2 of the Policy 
 
has the meaning assigned to it in paragraph 9.13 of 
Chapter 2 of the Policy 
 
has the meaning assigned to it in paragraph 1.3 of Chapter 
3 of the Policy 
 
has the meaning assigned to it in paragraph 1.4 of Chapter 
3 of the Policy 
 
has the meaning assigned to it in paragraph 5.3 of Chapter 
3 of the Policy 
 
the person who is the head of the Council’s housing service 
or some such person, being an employee of the Council, 
who the Head of Housing Services should nominate 
 
the person who is the head of the Council’s revenue service 
or, in his absence, the Head of Financial Services  
 
the person who is the head of the Council’s legal and 
estates service or some such person, being an employee of 
the Council, who the Head of Legal and Estates should 
nominate 
 
in the case of a landlord application, the agreement under 
which the landlord grants the Council tenant nomination 
rights and the right to negotiate a maximum rent for the 
property. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



 

 5 

 Commencement and transitional arrangements  
 
1.  This policy shall have effect from 9 April 2003. Agreed amendments were made in 
the review of the policy and take effect as from 19th July 2007. 
 
2. A valid application for assistance made under Chapters I, II or III of Part 1 of the 

1996 Act and received by Huntingdonshire District Council before July 19 2003 
shall be determined according to the provisions of that Act. 

 
3. An otherwise valid application for assistance made under Chapters I, II or III of 

Part 1 of the 1996 Act (other than an application for a disabled facilities grant) 
received for approval after July 18 2003 will be determined under the provisions 
of the policy described in this document. 

 
4. From 9 April 2003 a valid application for assistance made under a power derived 

under article 3 of the Order will be determined under the provisions of the policy 
described in this document. 

 
5. An application for assistance made on a form prescribed under the 1996 Act 

(other than an application for a mandatory disabled facilities grant) will not be 
accepted as a valid application after 9 April 2004. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



 

 6 

Contents 
 
Chapter 1:   

 
Assistance to improve living conditions in Huntingdonshire - Repair 
Assistance and Disabled Facilities Assistance  
 
1. Introduction 
 

10 

2. General purposes for which assistance may be made 
 

10 

3. Applications for assistance  
 

10 

4. Preliminary conditions 
 

11 

 
 

Chapter 2: 
 
Repair assistance 
 
1.  Making a valid application 

 
14 

2.  Determining a valid application for repair assistance – eligibility   
conditions 

 

 
15 

 Prior residency qualification 

 
15 

 Purposes for which assistance may be approved 

 
16 

 Factors to be taken into account when considering competing claims 

 
17 

 Work started or finished before assistance is approved 

 
18 

 Amount of assistance approved 
 

 
19 

3.  Landlord grants – special eligibility conditions 
 

19 

4.  The means test – owner-occupier’s, tenant’s and occupier’s      
applications 

 
20 

5.  The means test – landlord applications 
 

22 

6.  Determination of whether to award a loan or a grant 
 

23 

7.  Determination and notification of amount  and type of assistance 
 

23 

8.  Payment of repair assistance and conditions for repayment 
 

25 

34



 

 7 

9.   Repair assistance conditions 
 

27 

 Meaning of relevant disposal 

 
31 

 Meaning of exempt disposal 

 
31 

 Cessation of repayment conditions 

 
33 

10.   Boiler replacement scheme  
 

 Definition 
 

 Eligibility 
 

 Payment 
 

34 
 
34 
 
34 
 
34 
 

 

Chapter 3:                 35 
 
Disabled facilities assistance 
 
1. Introduction 

 
36 

2. “Top up” assistance 
 

36 

 eligibility 
 

36 

 determination of whether top up assistance is a grant or loan 
 

37 

3. Special purpose assistance 
 

37 

4. Disabled facilities assistance loan conditions 
 

38 

5.   Disabled persons’ relocation grant 
 

40 

 
 

Chapter 4:                          42 
 
Supplementary provisions 
 
1. Death of applicant 
 

43 

2. Review 
 

43 

3. Reviewing the policy 
 

44 

4. Budgetary matters 44 
 
 

35



 

 8 

Appendix  
 

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) 
Order 2002. 
 

45 
 

Summary of the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
(HHSRS) Housing Act 2004. 
 

60 

Summary of the amendments to the Council’s Housing Renewal 
Policy - 29 June 2006. 

62 
 
 

Summary of the amendments to the Council’s Housing Renewal 
Policy - 19 July 2007. 
 
Summary of the amendments to the Council’s Housing Renewal 
Policy - 19 November 2014. 

63 
 
 
63 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



 

 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Chapter 1. 
 
 
 

Assistance to improve living conditions in the District 
- Repair Assistance and Disabled Facilities Assistance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

37



 

 10 

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 For the purpose of improving living conditions in the District, including those of 

disabled people, and for the purpose of advancing the Council’s wider objectives, 
the Council will make available assistance in the form of grants and loans. 

 
1.2 Assistance will be known as “repair assistance” and “disabled facilities 

assistance”. 
 
1.3 Repair assistance may be made to any person to allow him to carry out either of 

the purposes specified in section 2.1 (b) and (c) of the Policy unless the main aim 
of the work for which assistance is sought is to benefit a disabled occupant.  

 
1.4 Disabled facilities assistance may be made to any person to allow him to carry 

out any of the purposes specified in section 2.1 (a), (b) and (c) where the main 
aim of the work is to benefit a disabled occupant and to achieve any of the 
purposes mentioned in section 23 (1) of the 1996 Act or to otherwise make the 
dwelling suitable for the accommodation, welfare and employment of a disabled 
person.   

 
 
2.0 General purposes for which assistance may be made 
 
2.1 Assistance may be made to enable a person:  
 

(a) to acquire living accommodation within the District, subject to the limitations 
imposed by article 3 of paragraphs (2)(a) and (2)(b) of the Order; 

 
(b) to adapt or improve living accommodation within the District (whether by 

alteration, conversion or enlargement, by the installation of anything or 
injection of any substance, or otherwise); 

 
(c) to repair living accommodation within the District. 

 
 
3.0 Applications for assistance 
 
3.1 No assistance will be made unless an application is made to the Council in 

accordance with the provisions of the Policy and the application is approved by 
the Council. 

 
3.2 if applicants owe money to Huntingdonshire District Council or any Registered 

Social Landlord they should demonstrate that they have an agreed arrears 
payment plan in place and that they are up to date with the payments 

 
3.3 Under its power under article 6 (b) of the Order, the Council will require an 

applicant to provide such information or evidence (including information relating 
to his financial circumstances) as may reasonably be required for the purposes 
of determining an application for assistance.  An application will not be valid 
unless it contains all such information or evidence.   

38



 

 11 

 
3.4 Applications for assistance will be made on the Council’s prescribed application 

form unless it is an the application for disabled facilities assistance, and –  
 
 

(a) the purpose of the application is to supplement a grant made for the 
purposes mentioned in section 23 (1) of the 1996 Act, and  

 
(b) the conditions for repayment of assistance detailed at section 4 of Chapter 3 

of the Policy do not apply, 
 
in which case an application for disabled facilities grant will be considered also to be 
an application for disabled facilities assistance. 
 
3.5 An application is not a valid application unless all sections of the prescribed 

application form are completed or, where they do not apply, marked 
appropriately.    

 
3.6 Where conditions attach to the award of assistance in any case, an application is 

not valid unless it is accompanied by an acknowledgement signed by the 
applicant that the Council has fulfilled its duty toward them under article 3 (5) of 
the Order. 

 
3.7 Unless the Council directs otherwise in any particular case, an application for 

assistance is not valid unless it is accompanied by at least two estimates from 
different contractors of the cost of carrying out the works to which the application 
relates. 

 
3.8 An application for assistance should include particulars of any preliminary or 

ancillary services in respect of which assistance is also sought.  
 
3.9 An otherwise valid application that does not fall within the purposes for which 

grant is normally approved, as provided under the Policy, will be determined on 
its merits. 

 
4.0 Preliminary conditions 
 
4.1 An applicant must be aged 18 years or over on the date the application is made. 
 
4.2 No assistance will normally be made if the person who would otherwise qualify 

as the applicant for assistance is a body mentioned in section 3(2) of the 1996 
Act. 

 
4.3 No assistance will normally be made where the application is for assistance in 

respect of premises provided (by construction or conversion) less than ten years 
before the date of the application, unless - 

 
(a) the application is for disabled facilities assistance, or 

 
(b) the application relates to a house in multiple occupation (HMO) (as defined 

under the Council’s HMO registration scheme) provided by conversion. 
 
4.4 No assistance will normally be made if under the Housing Act 1985 (defective 

dwellings) –  
 

39



 

 12 

(a) the dwelling, house or building is or forms part of a building of a class 
designated under sections 528 or 559, 

 
(b) the applicant is eligible for assistance under Part XVI in respect of a defective 

dwelling which is or forms part of the dwelling, house or building concerned, 
and 

 
(c) the works to which the application relates are, within the meaning of Part XVI, 

works required to reinstate that defective dwelling. 
 
4.4.1 If the Council considers that the works to which the application relates include 

works for which assistance is available under Part XVI of the Housing Act 
1985 (assistance for owners of defective housing), the Council will normally 
treat the application as if the relevant works did not include those works. 

40



 

 13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Chapter 2 
 
 

Repair Assistance 

41



 

 14 

1.0   Making a valid application 
 
1.1 An application for repair assistance will not be considered a valid application 

unless the Council is satisfied that - 
 
(a) the applicant has an owner’s interest in, or is in the process of acquiring an 
owner’s interest in, (alone or jointly with others) every parcel of land to which the 
application relates; or 
 
(b) the applicant is a qualifying tenant (including a joint tenant) of the dwelling to 

which the application relates; or 
 
(c) the applicant is an occupier (alone or jointly with others) of a qualifying 

houseboat or a qualifying park home. 
 
1.2  For the purposes of paragraph 1.1 (a) -  
 
(a) “owner” has the meaning specified by article 5 (2) of the Order; and 
 
(b) “owner’s interest” has the meaning specified in section 101 of the 1996 Act. 
 
1.2.1 An application made under paragraph 1.1 (a) is called an “owner’s 

application”.  
 
1.3  For the purposes of paragraph 1.1 (b) a “qualifying tenant” means a tenant - 
 
(a) who is required by the terms of his tenancy to the carry out the works to which 

the application relates; and  
 
(b) whose rent has reduced from what it would otherwise have been to 

compensate him for his repairing obligation. 
 
The Council will make such enquiries or seek such advice as is necessary and, in 
particular, seek the advice of the Cambridgeshire Rent Service, to satisfy itself that 
condition 1.3 (b) is met.  
 
1.3.1 Where condition 1.3 (b) is not met or not proven to the satisfaction of the 

Council, the owner may choose to make a landlord’s application. 
   
1.3.2 For the purposes of this paragraph a person with a right to exclusive 

occupation for life or more than five years may be counted as a tenant. 
 
1.3.3 An application made under paragraph 1.1 (b) is called a “tenant’s application”.   
 
1.4 For the purposes of paragraph 1.1 (c) “occupier” means the person legally in 

occupation of the qualifying houseboat or qualifying park home. 
  
1.4.1 An application made under paragraph 1.1 (c) is called an “occupier’s 

application”. 
 
1.5 An owner’s application for repair assistance will not be considered a valid 

application unless it is accompanied by an owner-occupation certificate or a 
tenant nomination and rent setting agreement in respect of the dwelling to 
which the application relates or, in the case of an application to convert a 

42



 

 15 

dwelling to form two or more properties, in respect of each of the dwellings 
provided. 

 
1.5.1 An owner’s application accompanied by a tenant nomination and rent setting 

agreement is called a “landlord’s application”.  
 
1.6 A tenant’s application for repair assistance will not be considered valid unless it 

is accompanied by a tenant’s certificate and a statement of consent to the 
works signed by the person who at the time of the application is the landlord 
under the tenancy.  

 
1.7 Except where the Council consider it to be unreasonable in the circumstances, 

an occupier’s application will not be considered a valid application unless it is 
accompanied by an occupier’s (repair assistance) certificate. 

 
 
 
2.0 Determining a valid application for repair assistance – eligibility 

conditions 
 
Prior residency qualification 
 
2.1 Subject to paragraph 2.2, the Council will not normally approve an application 

for repair assistance accompanied by an owner-occupation certificate, a tenant’s 
certificate or an occupier’s certificate unless – 

 
(a) the applicant (or, in the case of a joint application, one of the applicants) has 

had an owner’s or a tenant’s or an occupier’s interest in the property for at least 
three years before the application is made; and  

 
(b) has lived in the property as his only or principal residence for at least three 

years before the application is made 
 
2.2 Any of the following will count toward meeting the requirements of paragraph 

2.1:  
 
2.2.1 Where the applicant took his owner’s interest or became a tenant or the 

occupier on the death of a member of his family and the applicant was living 
in the dwelling as his only or main residence immediately before the death of 
the deceased – 

 
(a) any period when the deceased both held an owner’s interest in or was a 

qualifying tenant or an occupier of the dwelling and lived in the dwelling as his 
only or main residence, 

 
(b) if immediately before his death the deceased both held such an interest or 

was such a tenant or such an occupier and lived in the dwelling as his only or 
main residence, any period not exceeding one year when his personal 
representatives, or the Public Trustee under section 9 of the Administration of 
Estates Act 1925, held such an interest or was such a tenant, 

 
(c) any period during which the deceased was absent from the dwelling because 

he was being cared for. 
 

43



 

 16 

2.2.2 Where the applicant took his owner’s interest or became a tenant or the 
occupier by virtue of a disposal made by a member of the family and –  

 
(i) the applicant was living in the dwelling as his only or main residence 
immediately before the disposal; and 
(ii) the disposal was made with the intention of allowing the person making the 
disposal to be cared for –  
 
Any period ending on the date of the disposal when the person making the disposal 
held an owner’s interest or was a qualifying tenant of the dwelling. 
 

2.2.3 Where the applicant took his owner’s interest or became a tenant or the 
occupier by virtue of a disposal made by the spouse of the applicant and 
the Council is satisfied that that the disposal was made as a result of 
arrangements in relation to divorce, judicial separation or the declaration 
of nullity of marriage, any period ending on the date of disposal when the 
spouse held an owner’s interest or was a tenant.   

 
2.2.4 Any period where the applicant was absent from the dwelling because he 

was being cared for. 
 
2.3 The Council may dispense with the requirements of paragraph 2.1 if the work to 

which the application relates is – 
 
(a) to comply with a notice under sections 189 or 190 of the Housing Act 1985  
 
(b) to provide means of escape in case of fire or other fire precautions; 
 
(c) to provide two or more dwellings by conversion; 
 
(d) to a dwelling in council tax bands A, B or C where the dwelling is (or in the case 
of an intending buyer, will be) the first property the applicant has owned and the 
applicant lives (or intends to live) in the property as his only or main residence. 
 
For the purposes of paragraph 2.3 (d), the Council may consider an applicant to be a 
first time owner if he has previously owned living accommodation with a partner and 
that living accommodation has been sold following divorce, judicial separation or the 
declaration of nullity of marriage and the sum received by the applicant from the sale 
is, in the opinion of the Council, not sufficient to purchase a suitable fit property within 
the District. 
 
Purposes for which assistance may be approved 
 
2.4 The Council will not approve an application for repair assistance unless it 

is satisfied that the works are necessary for one or more of the following 
purposes:  

 
(a) to comply with any notice or order served in accordance with the Housing Health 
Safety Rating System (HHSRS) (part 1 of the Housing Act 2004). 
 
(b) to provide adequate thermal insulation; 
 
(c) to provide adequate and energy efficient facilities for space heating; 
 
(d) to provide satisfactory internal arrangements;  

44



 

 17 

 
(e) to repair or replace a worn or broken essential service or to render the dwelling 
wind or water tight; 
 
(f) to make a property secure; 
 
(g) to take early measures to prevent the deterioration of a property; 
 
(h) in the case of an empty property, to bring that property into a good, lettable 
condition.  
 
2.4.1 Whether the work for which assistance is sought meets one or more of these 

purposes will be determined by a technical officer’s survey. 
 
2.4.2 Following the technical officer’s survey the Council may, with the agreement 

of the applicant, vary the works to which the application relates to include or 
exclude certain works. 

 
 
Factors to be taken into account when considering competing claims 
 
2.5 When deciding whether to approve or refuse an application for repair assistance 

the Council shall have regard to  – 
 
(a) whether the work to which the application relates is considered serious and 
urgent both in its own right and relative to any other applications and enquiries for 
repair assistance then before the Council for consideration; 
 
(b) whether the work to which the application relates is considered serious or urgent 
relative to the general state of repair of dwellings in the District; 
 
(c) the extent to which the work will benefit a household containing a person or 
persons in a priority category; 
 
(d) the extent to which the work to which the application relates will provide or 
preserve accommodation for which there is local need; 
 
(e) the extent to which the applicant can himself afford to pay for the work; 
 
(f) the extent to which the applicant’s own resources may potentially be used to 
resolve the repair problem or resolve any adverse consequences of the repair 
problem. 
 
For the purposes of this paragraph, “serious” means the failure or prospective failure 
of an essential element or service of a dwelling. 
 
For the purposes of this paragraph “urgent” means the repair is needed in the short 
term having regard to both the dwelling and the needs of the household. 
 
2.5.1 When considering the matters referred to in paragraphs 2.5 (a) and 2.5 (b) 

regard will principally be had to the technical officer’s survey and to any 
scoring system the Council may use or introduce. 

 
2.5.2 For the purposes of 2.5 (c), “a person or persons in a priority category” 

means: 

45



 

 18 

 
(a) persons who are over the age of 60 or are infirm or disabled; 
(b) persons who are children, especially children under five years old; 
(c) persons in housing need; 
(d) persons who are first time owners of a dwelling where the dwelling is in council 
tax bands A, B or C and is, or is intended to be used as, their only or main residence. 
 
2.5.3 For the purposes of 2.5 (d), “accommodation for which there is local need” will 

be determined with regard to the Council’s housing needs register, the 
Council’s housing needs survey and any other appropriate source of 
intelligence.     

 
2.5.4 For the purposes of 2.5 (e), “the extent to which the applicant can himself pay 

for the work” will be determined with regard to sections 4 and 5 of Chapter 2 
of the Policy. 

 
2.5.5 For the purposes of 2.5 (f), the “applicant’s own resources” will include any 

free equity in the dwelling against which a loan from a private lender may be 
secured or which may be used to buy a fit property suitable for the needs of 
the applicant and his household. 

 
2.6 Except where paragraph 2.7 applies, the Council will notify in writing an 

applicant who has submitted, in the Council’s opinion, a valid application for 
repair assistance whether that application is approved or refused. 

 
2.6.1 Notification will be made according to the provisions of Section 6 of Chapter 2 
of the Policy. 
 
2.7 Where any application for repair assistance is not refused, the Council will only 

approve the application where sufficient funds exist in the budget approved for 
that purpose. 

 
2.7.1 Where an application is not approved under this paragraph, the Council will 

so notify the applicant in writing that this is the case at the same time notify 
the applicant that the application will be – 

 
(a) approved on a stated date not more than six months forward from the date of 
notification; or  
 
(b) with the agreement of the applicant, reconsidered as soon as practicable after 
funds become available and in any case not less than six months forward from the 
date of notification. 
  
2.7.2 If the application is reconsidered under 2.7.1 (b), in so far as it remains a valid 

application it may only be reconsidered with regard to the matters mentioned 
at paragraph 2.5.  

 
 
 
Work started or finished before assistance is approved 
 
2.8 Subject as follows, the Council will not approve an application for repair 

assistance if the works to which the application relates have been started before 
the application is approved. 

 

46



 

 19 

2.8.1 Where the works to which the application relates have been started but not 
finished, the Council may approve the application if it was satisfied that there 
were good reasons for starting the works before assistance was approved. 

 
2.8.2 Where the Council decides to approve an application in accordance with 

subparagraph 2.8.1, it may, with the consent of the applicant, treat the 
application as varied so as to exclude the works that are completed. 

  
2.9 Unless an application for repair assistance is in respect to work to –  
 

(a) to comply with notices under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
(HHSRS) Housing Act 2004, or 

 
(b) to enable a dwelling to meet one or more of the requirements of section 352 

(1A) of the Housing Act 1985 
 
The Council will not approve an application for repair assistance if the works to which 
the application relates have been completed before the application is approved. 
 
 
Amount of assistance approved 
 
2.10 Where the Council approves an application for repair assistance accompanied 

by an owner-occupation certificate, a tenant’s certificate or an occupier’s 
certificate, the amount and type of assistance approved will be calculated 
according to the provisions of sections 4, 6 and 7 of Chapter 2 of the Policy.   

 
2.11 Where the Council approves a landlord’s application for repair assistance, the 

amount and type of assistance approved will be calculated according to the 
provisions of section 5, 6 and 7 of Chapter 2 of the Policy.  

 
2.12 Any award of repair assistance over £20,000 will be required to be endorsed by 

the Head of Housing Services. 
 
 
3.0 Landlord’s grants – special eligibility conditions 
 
3.1 The Council may approve a landlord’s application for repair assistance and may 

do so having regard to any of the factors mentioned in paragraph 2.5 but will in 
particular have regard to factors 2.5 (c) and 2.5 (d). 

 
3.2 The Council may approve an application for repair assistance for a tenanted 

property in the following circumstances – 
 
(a) where accommodation is let on a statutory tenancy; or 
 
(b) where accommodation is let at a market rent and subject to a repair notice under 
sections 189 and 190 of the Housing Act 1985. 
 

3.2.1 Where 3.2 (a) applies, assistance will not normally be approved if the dwelling 
to which the application relates forms part of a larger holding such as a property 
portfolio or an agricultural estate and there is the potential to cross-subsidise. 

 
3.2.2 Where 3.2 (b) applies, in deciding whether to approve assistance the Council 

shall have regard, above all, to the matter mentioned at subparagraph 2.5 (d)  

47



 

 20 

 
3.3 Approval under paragraph 3.2 may be made on the condition that the owner enter 

into an agreement with the Council under which – 
 
(a) in the event of a vacancy the Council may nominate a tenant to the property, and 
 
(b) where a market rent is passing or is proposed to be charged, the Council will 
agree the maximum amount of rent the owner charges or proposes to charge under 
the tenancy. 
 

3.3.1 Where the owner does enter into an agreement with the Council that agreement 
will be for a minimum of five years and will be subject to the conditions 
described in paragraph 9.9 of Chapter 2 of the Policy. 

 
3.4 The Council may approve an application for repair assistance to a property that is 

empty at that time. 
 

3.5 Approval under paragraph 3.4 shall be made on the condition that the owner shall 
enter into an agreement with the Council under which – 

 
(a) the Council may nominate a tenant to the property; 
 
(b) the Council shall agree the maximum amount of rent the owner will charge 
under the tenancy. 
 

3.5.1 Where the owner does enter into an agreement with the Council that agreement 
will be for a minimum of five years and will be subject to the conditions 
described in paragraph 9.9 of Chapter 2 of the Policy. 

 
 
4.0 The means test – owner-occupier’s, tenant’s and occupier’s applications  
 
4.1 This section applies to an application for repair assistance which is – 
 
(a) an owner’s application accompanied by an owner-occupation certificate; or 
 
(b) a tenant’s application; or 
 
(c) an occupier’s application. 
 
4.2 Subject to paragraph 4.4, if, in the case of an application made under this 
section, the financial resources of the relevant party or parties exceed the applicable 
amount, the amount of any assistance which may be paid shall be reduced from what 
it otherwise would have been.  
 
4.3  With regard to paragraph 4.2 “relevant party or parties” means -   
 
4.4  In the case of an owner’s application: 
 
(a) the applicant; and  
 
(b) the applicant’s partner (if any); and  
 
 

48



 

 21 

(c)  any other person with an owner’s interest in the dwelling to which the application 
relates. 
 
4.5 In the case of a tenant’s application, the applicant and his partner (if any) or, 
in the case of a joint tenancy, each tenant and his partner (if any). 
 
4.6 In the case of an occupier’s application: 
 
(a) the applicant; and 
 
(b) the applicant’s partner (if any); and 
 
(c) any other person who is entitled to dispose of the houseboat or park home.  
 
4.7  With regard to paragraph 4.2 the extent to which “the amount of any 
assistance which may be paid shall be reduced” shall be calculated according to the 
provisions of the Housing Renewal Grants Regulation 1996, as amended, but using 
actual housing costs (where appropriate) rather than the housing allowance 
(subparagraphs 4.4.1 and 4.4.2) and ignoring as income any payment of child tax 
credit (subparagraph 4.4.3). 
 
4.8  When, in any case, the actual housing costs of the applicant or applicants 
exceed the housing allowance then in force under the Housing Renewal Grants 
Regulation 1996, the housing allowance will be calculated according to the actual 
housing costs. 
 
4.9  With regard to 4.4.1, “actual housing costs” will be determined according to, in 
the case of a repayment mortgage, the weekly amount the applicant is repaying on 
the principal plus any interest charges and net of any insurances and other costs 
and, in the case of an interest-only mortgage, the weekly cost of the interest on the 
principal plus the weekly cost of any endowment policy expressly entered into for the 
purposes of repaying the principal.    
 
4.10  Where child tax credit forms a part of household income the amount due to 
that credit is to be ignored.  
 
4.11  With regard to paragraph 4.2, the “amount of any assistance which may be 
paid” refers to the full cost of the works calculated according to paragraph 7.4 of 
Chapter 2 of the Policy.  
 
4.12 Paragraph 4.2. will not apply if at the time the application is made either the 
applicant or the applicant’s partner (if any) is in receipt of one or more of the 
following; 
 
(a) income support; 
(b) income-based job-seeker’s allowance; 
(c) housing benefit; 
(d) guarantee credit of pensions credit; 
(e) working tax credit where gross taxable income is less than £15,050 
(f) income related Employment Support Allowance 
(g) universal credit 

 
 
 
 

49



 

 22 

 
4.13 No other person has an owner’s or a tenant’s or an occupier’s interest in the 

dwelling; or 
 
4.14 Each and every other person with an owner’s or a tenant’s or an occupier’s 

interest in the dwelling is, at the time the application is made, in receipt of one 
of the benefits or credits mentioned in this paragraph. 

 
4.15 Here the condition as to the receipt benefits or credits under subparagraph 

4.6.2 is not met by any person having an owner’s, tenant’s or occupier’s interest 
in the property the provisions of paragraph 4.2 will apply to that person. 

 
5.0 The means test – landlord applications 
 
5.1 Subject to paragraph 5.3, where the Council approve an application for repair 

assistance made under section 3 of Chapter 2 of the Policy (landlord 
applications), the amount of any assistance which may be paid shall be 
reduced from what it otherwise would have been by consideration of the higher 
rent the landlord may charge due to the works to which the application relates. 

 
5.2 With regard to paragraph 5.1, the amount by which any grant awarded will be 

reduced (R) will be calculated according to the formula: 
 
R = (a – b) x 0.7 x 50 x 5  
 
Where - 
 

 “a” is the notional rental figure after the works.  

 “b” is the notional rental figure before the works.   

 (a – b) is the notional weekly rise in rental income due to the eligible works  

 0.7 is the proportion of the rise in rental income to be counted as available 
capital 

 50 is the notional number of weeks each year that rent is received 

 5 is the minimum number of years of an agreement entered into under 
subparagraph 3.3.1 or paragraph 3.6 of this Chapter.    

The amount of repair assistance awarded (A) (if any) will be calculated according to 
the formula:  
 
A = C - R  
 
Where C is the full cost of the approved works calculated according to paragraph 7.4 
of Chapter 2 of the Policy. 
  
5.2.1 In deciding the notional rent before and after the works are carried out the 

Council will seek the advice of the Cambridgeshire Rent Service. 
 
5.3 Where the product of the calculation described in paragraph 5.2 is a figure 

that, in the opinion of the Council, does not provide good value for money, the 
Council may offer a lesser amount of assistance. 

 
5.3.1 Under this paragraph “value for money” shall be determined with particular 

regard to the matters referred to in subparagraphs 2.5 (c) and 2.5 (d). 
 

50



 

 23 

 
6.0 Determination of whether to award a loan or a grant 
 
6.1 Where the Council has decided to approve an application for repair assistance, 

whether that assistance is made as a grant or a loan or some combination thereof 
will be determined according to the provisions of this section. 

 
6.2 In the case of an owner’s application accompanied by an owner’s certificate and 

an occupier’s application assistance will be made in the form of a loan. 
 
6.2.1 The Council may decide not to take into account any charge secured on the 

property where any equity thereby released was used to finance goods or 
services not relating to the repair or maintenance of that property and it 
appears to the Council either that– 

 
(a) the equity released would more appropriately have been spent on the repair 

and maintenance of the property, or 
 

(b) the charge was placed on the property with the intention of affecting the 
outcome of the calculation of whether assistance is made as a grant or a 
loan.  

 
6.3 In the case of a tenant’s application the amount of assistance made will be in the 

form of a grant. 
 
6.4 In the case of a landlord’s application, the amount of assistance will be made in 

the form of a grant.   
 
 
7.0 Determination and notification of amount and type of assistance 
 
7.1 Where the Council has decided either to approve or refuse an application for 

repair assistance, it will notify the applicant of the outcome no later than one 
calendar month after the date of valid application. 

 
7.2 If the application is refused, the Council will notify the applicant of the reasons for 

the refusal and inform the applicant of the Council’s review procedure. 
 
7.3 If the application is approved the notice will – 
 
(a) specify the works for which assistance is approved (the “approved works”); 
 
(b) specify the full cost of the works for which assistance is approved; 
 
(c) specify the applicant’s contribution (if any); 
 
(d) specify the amount of assistance that is approved (the “approved amount”); 
 
(e) specify, as appropriate, the amount of assistance that is to be made as a loan 

and the amount of assistance that is to be made as a grant; 
 
(f) provide a statement of the conditions to which assistance is subject; 
 
(g) make a formal offer of assistance.  
 

51



 

 24 

 
7.4 For the purposes of subparagraph 7.3 (b), “the full cost of the works”  is -   
 
(a) the cost of the building works; plus 
 
(b) the cost of any approved preliminary or ancillary services and charges.  
 
7.4.1 With regard to 7.4 (a), unless the Council decides otherwise, “the cost of the 

building works” will be the cost of the lower (or if more than two, the lowest) of 
the quotes that accompanied the application, whether or not that contractor is 
the contractor that carries out the work. 

 
7.4.2 With regard to 7.4 (b), “approved preliminary or ancillary services and 

charges” , means any charges agreed by the Council to be necessary for the 
preparation and execution of the approved works and may include – 

 
(a) fees necessary to establish ownership of the dwelling; 
(b) architect’s fees; 
(c) quantity surveyor’s fees; 
(d) Cambs Home Improvement Agency fees; 
(e) property valuation fees; 
(f) any other fees the Council may decide in any particular case. 
 
7.5 With regard to 7.3 (c) – 
 
7.5.1 In the case of an application accompanied by an owner-occupation certificate or 

a tenant’s certificate or an occupier’s certificate, the applicant’s contribution will 
be the amount determined according to the provisions of section 4 of Chapter 2 
of the Policy. 

 
7.5.2 With regard to a landlord’s application, the applicant’s contribution will be 

determined according to the provisions of section 5 of Chapter 2 of the Policy.  
 
7.6 If, after an application for repair assistance has been approved the Council is 

satisfied that owing to circumstances beyond the control of the applicant the 
work cannot be completed for the approved amount, the Council may re-
determine the approved amount. 

 
7.7 If, for any reason, the approved works under subparagraph 7.3 (a) are required 

to be varied, such variation will only be made according to the provisions of 
article 5 (6) of the Order. 

52



 

 25 

 
8.0  Payment of repair assistance and conditions for repayment 
 
8.1 No payment of repair assistance will be made unless the applicant has 

returned  to the Council a copy of the terms and conditions under which the 
award will be made signed by all persons with an owner’s interest in the dwelling 
stating that the said terms and conditions are understood and accepted.  

 
8.2 The Council may pay repair assistance  – 
 
(a) in whole after the work has been completed; or 
 
(b) in part by instalments  
.  
8.2.1 Where repair assistance is paid in instalments, the aggregate of instalments 
paid before the works are completed shall not exceed 90% of the approved amount. 
 
8.3 It is a condition of payment of repair assistance that the approved works 

are carried out within 12 months from the date of approval unless the Council 
agree otherwise in any particular case. 

 
8.4 The payment of repair assistance is conditional on –  
 
(a) the approved works being carried out to the satisfaction of the Council, and 
 
(b) the Council being provided with an acceptable invoice or receipt for payment for 
the building works and for any other approved services and charges, and 
 
(c) the work being carried out by a contractor whose quote accompanied the 
application unless the Council agree otherwise by prior notification in any particular 
case. 
 
8.5 Where the Council agrees to the work being carried out by a member of 

the family of the applicant, payment will be made only for the cost of materials. 
 
8.6 The Council will pay repair assistance – 
 
(a) directly to the contractor, or 
 
(b) to the applicant as a cheque made payable to the contractor. 
 
8.7 Where the approved work has not been carried out to the satisfaction of 

the applicant the Council may, at the request of the applicant and if it considers it 
to be reasonable, withhold payment. 

  
8.8 Where an award of repair assistance has been approved but before the 

date on which the works are certified as having been completed to the 
satisfaction of the Council (the “certified date” ) – 

 
(a) if it subsequently appears to the Council that the applicant was not, at the time of 
approval, entitled to the award, or 
 
(b) if the applicant has ceased to be a person entitled to the award,  
 

53



 

 26 

then no award will be payable or, as the case may be, no further payment will be 
made. 
 
In the case of a joint application, the provisions of this paragraph do not apply unless 
all the applicants who were so entitled to the award cease to be entitled. 
 

8.8.1 Where this paragraph applies, the Council may demand that any payment 
of repair assistance which has been made is repaid, together interest on 
that amount from the date on which it was paid until the date of repayment, 
at such reasonable rates as the Council may determine. 

 
8.8.2 For the purposes of this paragraph, an applicant is a person not entitled to 

repair assistance if, at the time of the application or any time before the 
certified date, he – 

 
(a) did not have the required owner’s, qualifying tenant’s or occupier’s interest in the 
property, or 
 
(b) did not have the intention specified in the owner’s, qualifying tenant’s or 
occupier’s certificates that accompanied the application, or 
 
(c) in the case of a landlord’s application, has failed to enter into an agreement 
under paragraphs 3.3 or 3.5 of Chapter 2 of the Policy or has given the Council good 
cause to think he will not enter into such an agreement.  
 
8.9 Where an award of repair assistance has been approved but – 
 
(a) the amount of the award was determined on the basis of inaccurate or 
incomplete information with regard to sections 4 or 5 of Chapter 2 the Policy, or 
 
(b) the approved works were started before the award was approved without the 
consent of the Council, or 
 
(c) the eligible works were not completed to the satisfaction of the Council within 
the period specified in paragraph 8.3 or any extended period agreed under the 
provision of that paragraph, or 
 
(d) the work was not carried out by a contractor whose quote accompanied the 
application, or the Council was not made aware that the contractor that carried out 
the works is a member of the applicant’s family, 
 
then the Council may – 
 
(i)  refuse to pay repair assistance or, as the case may be, any further instalment of 
repair assistance, or 
(ii)   re-determine the amount of repair assistance 
 
and may in both cases demand that any payment of repair assistance which has 
been made is repaid, together with interest from the date on which it was paid until 
the date of repayment, at such reasonable rates as the Council may determine. 

54



 

 27 

 
9.0 Repair Assistance conditions 
 
9.1 This section will apply when an owner’s or an occupier’s application for 

repair assistance has been approved by the Council and an offer made to the 
applicant which the applicant has accepted. 

 
9.1.1 Under this section – 

 
“property” means the property to which the application relates 
 
“award” means repair assistance loan or repair assistance grant; 
 
“loan” means repair assistance loan; 
 
“grant” means repair assistance grant; 
 
“grant condition period” means a period of five years from the certified date or, in the 
case of a landlord’s application for such period as may be agreed to in the tenant 
nomination and rent setting agreement; 
 
“award notice” means the notice sent to the grant applicant notifying him that the 
award has been allocated to him and may now be drawn upon.  
 
“effective date” means the date on which the award notice is issued by the Council; 
 
“certified date” means the date on which the approved works are certified as 
completed to the satisfaction of the Council; 
 
9.2 It is a condition of an award that the applicant shall enter into a legal 

agreement with the Council to secure such award either by way of legal charge 
on the property or in such other manner as the Council’s Head of Legal and 
Estates shall require.  

 
9.3 It is a condition of an award that if the owner of the property makes a 

relevant disposal (other than an exempt disposal) – 
 
(a) of the whole or part of the property, 
 
(b) after the effective date, and 
 
(c) before the certified date, 
 
He shall repay to the Council on demand the amount of award, if any, that has been 
paid. 
 
9.4 It is a condition of a loan that if the owner of the property or, in the case of 

a loan made to convert a premises to provide two or more dwellings, any dwelling 
provided by the approved works, makes a relevant disposal (other than an 
exempt disposal) – 

 
(a) of the whole or part of the dwelling, 
 
(b) on or after the certified date, 
 

55



 

 28 

He shall repay to the Council on demand the amount of the loan that has been paid. 
 
9.5 It is condition of a grant that if the owner of the property or, in the case of 

a grant made to convert a dwelling to provide two or more dwellings, any dwelling 
provided by the approved works, makes a relevant disposal (other than an 
exempt disposal) – 

 
(a) of the whole or part of the dwelling, 
 
(b) on or after the certified date, 
 
(c) before the end of the grant condition period 
 
He shall repay to the Council on demand the amount of the grant that has been paid. 
 
 In the case a landlord’s grant, the provisions of this paragraph will not apply in a 
case where the successor in title is prepared to continue the arrangements entered 
into under the tenancy nomination and rent setting agreement. 
 
 
9.5.1 A condition under this paragraph may be registered as a local land charge 

binding on any person who is for the time being an owner of the dwelling. 
 
9.6 Where the Council has the right to demand repayment under paragraphs 

9.3, 9.4 or 9.5, it may determine not to demand payment or to demand a lesser 
amount if: 

 
(a) the owner, or any member of the owner’s family who lives in the dwelling as their 
only or main residence, is aged 60 or over, or is infirm, and 
  
(b) the disposal is being made for the purpose of enabling that person who is aged 
60 or over, or is infirm to be cared for, and 
 
(c) The Council is satisfied that such arrangements for the care of that person who is 
aged 60 or over, or is infirm will not otherwise be possible. 
 
9.7 Where the Council has the right to demand repayment under paragraphs 

9.3, 9.4 or 9.5, it may determine not to demand payment or to demand a lesser 
amount if  

 
(a) the sale is made to enable the owner or his partner to take up employment and 
the Council is satisfied that the offer would otherwise not be able to be accepted, or 
 
(b) the sale is by a mortgagee and the mortgage was entered into before the award 
was made, or 
 
(c) The Council is satisfied that the human rights of the owner will otherwise be 
infringed. 
 
9.8 Where an application for an award was accompanied by – 
 
(a) an owner-occupier’s certificate, or 
 
(b) an occupier’s certificate, and 
 

56



 

 29 

The award or any part thereof was approved as a loan; it is a condition of the loan 
that the dwelling is occupied in accordance with the intention stated in the certificate. 
 
9.8.1 It is also a condition of the loan that if at any time when that condition is in 

force the Council serve notice on the owner or the occupier of the dwelling 
requiring him to do so, he will within 21 days beginning with the date on which 
the notice was served provide the Council with a statement showing how that 
condition is being fulfilled. 

 
9.8.2 A condition under this paragraph may be registered as a local land charge 

binding on any person who is for the time being an owner of the dwelling. 
 
9.8.3 In the event of a breach of a condition under this paragraph, the owner or the 

occupier for the time being of the dwelling shall on demand repay to the 
Council the amount of the loan together with compound interest on that 
amount as from the certified date or, if it seems to the Council to be more 
appropriate, from the date on which the breach may reasonably be assumed 
to have first taken place, calculated at such reasonable rates as the Council 
may determine and with yearly rests.  

 
9.8.4 The Council may determine not to make a demand under subparagraph 9.8.3 

or demand a lesser amount in any particular case if it is satisfied that there is 
good reason why the condition has not been met. 

 
9.9 Where an application for an award was accompanied by – 
 
(a) an owner-occupation certificate, or 
 
(b) an occupier’s certificate, or 
 
(c) a certificate of intended letting, or 
 
(d) an agreement under sections 3.3 or 3.5 of Chapter 2 of the Policy, and  
 
The award or any part thereof was approved as a grant; it is a condition of the grant 
that throughout the grant condition period the dwelling is occupied in accordance with 
the intention stated in the certificate or, in the case of 9.9 (d), the agreement. 
 
9.9.1 It is also a condition of the grant that if at any time when that condition is in 

force the Council serve notice on the owner or the occupier of the dwelling 
requiring him to do so, he will within 21 days beginning with the date on which 
the notice was served furnish to the Council a statement showing how that 
condition is being fulfilled. 

 
9.9.2 A condition under this paragraph may be registered as a local land charge 

binding on any person who is for the time being an owner of the dwelling. 
 
9.9.3 In the event of a breach of a condition under this paragraph, the owner or the 

occupier for the time being of the dwelling shall on demand repay to the 
Council the amount of the grant together with compound interest on that 
amount as from the certified date, calculated at such reasonable rates as the 
Council may determine and with yearly rests.  

 

57



 

 30 

9.9.4 The Council may determine not to make a demand under subparagraph 9.9.3 
or demand a lesser amount in any particular case if it is satisfied that there is 
good reason why the condition has not been met. 

 
9.10  Where, under paragraphs 9.6, 9.7, 9.8, or 9.9 an owner makes an application 
that the amount of the award should not be repaid or, as the case may be, some 
lesser amount than the approved amount should be repaid, that application shall be 
made in writing to the Council’s Head of Housing Services who may – 
 
(a) refuse such an application, or  
 
(b) Recommend that the Council’s Head of Revenue Services approve such 
an application. 
 
9.10.1 Where subparagraph 9.10 (a) applies, the Head of Housing Services will –  
 
(a) give the owner his reasons in writing why the application has been refused, and  
 
(b) inform the owner of his rights under the Council’s complaint procedure and the 
local authority Ombudsman procedure, and  
 
(c) He will do so within 30 days of having made such enquiries and requested such 
evidence as he thinks is necessary to determine the application. 
 
9.10.2 Where subparagraph 9.10 (b) applies –  
 
(a) the Head of Housing Services will make his recommendation to the Head of 
Revenue Services within 14 days of having made such enquiries and requested such 
evidence as he thinks is necessary to make his recommendation, and  
 
(b) the Head of Revenue Services will inform the Head of Housing Services in 
writing of his decision within 14 days of having made such enquiries and requested 
such evidence as he thinks is necessary to make his recommendation, and 
 
(c) The Head of Housing Services will, no later than seven days after receiving 
such a written response, then give the owner the reasons in writing why the 
application has been refused or approved and, if it is refused, inform the owner of his 
rights under the Council’s complaint procedure and the local authority Ombudsman 
procedure.  
 
9.11 Where the Council approves an application for an award, it may impose on the 

applicant or any person who is for the time being the owner of the property any 
reasonable condition so long as – 

 
(a) any such condition is approved by the Head of Housing Services and the 
Portfolio Holder for Housing, and 
 
(b) any such condition is made according to the provisions of article 3 (4) of the 
Order, and 
 
(c) The applicant has given his signed consent to such a condition. 
 
9.12 Here any such condition imposed under this paragraph 9.11 may be registered 

as a local land charge and in the event of a breach the Council may require the 
amount of the award to be repaid, together with compound interest on that 

58



 

 31 

amount as from the date of payment, calculated at such reasonable rate as the 
Council may determine and with yearly rests. 

 
 
Meaning of relevant disposal 
 
9.13 For the purposes of this Policy, a disposal is a relevant disposal if it is – 
 
(a) a conveyance of the freehold or an assignment of the lease, or 
 
(b) the grant of a lease (other than a mortgage term) for a term of more than 21 
years otherwise than at a rack rent, or 
 
(c) In the case of a mobile home or a houseboat, the sale, pledge or assignment of 
the mobile home or houseboat. 
 
9.13.1 For the purpose of subparagraph 9.13 (b), it shall be assumed – 
 
(a) that the option to renew or extend a lease or sub-lease, whether or not forming 
a part of a series of options, is exercised, and 
 
(b) That any option to terminate a lease or sub-lease is not exercised. 
 
9.13.2 The grant of an option calling for a person to make a relevant disposal shall 

be treated as such a disposal made to him. 
 
Meaning of exempt disposal 
 
9.14 For the purposes of this Policy, a disposal is an exempt disposal if it is the 

disposal of the whole or part of the dwelling to which the award relates of any 
of the following descriptions – 

 
(a) a conveyance of the freehold or an assignment of the lease where the person, or 
each of the persons, to whom it is made is a qualifying person (as defined in 
subparagraph 9.14.2); 
 
(b) a vesting in a person taking under a will or on a intestacy provided the person 

intends to continue to live in the property as their principle home (July 2007); 
 
(c) a disposal in pursuance of any such order as is mentioned in subparagraph 

9.14.3; 
 
(d) a compulsory disposal (see subparagraph 9.14.4); 
 
(e) a disposal of property consisting of land included in the dwelling by virtue of 

section 184 of the Housing Act 1985 (land let with or used for the purposes of 
the dwelling house); 

 
(f) a disposal under which the interest of a person entitled to assistance by way of 

repurchase under Part XVI of that Act (assistance for owners of defective 
housing) is acquired in accordance with section 20 of that Act; 

 
(g) a disposal by way of enfranchisement or lease extension under part 1 of the 

Leasehold Reform Act 1967; 
 

59



 

 32 

(h) a disposal in pursuance of an obligation arising under Chapter I or II of Part 1 of 
the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993; 

 
(i) a disposal on the exercise of a right of first refusal  under Part 1 of the Landlord 

and Tenant Act 1987 or in accordance with an acquisition order under Part III of 
that Act; 

 
(j) a disposal on the exercise of  - 
 
(I)  The right to buy under Part V of the Housing Act 1985, or 
(ii) The right conferred by section 16 of the Housing Act 1996 (right of tenant of 

registered social landlord to acquire dwelling); 
     
(k) a conveyance of the freehold or an assignment of the lease where – 
 
(I) the person making the disposal is aged at least 70,      
(ii) The disposal is to provide an annuity income, and 
(iii)  The person concerned is entitled to continue to occupy the premises as his 

only or main residence. 
  
9.14.1 A person is a qualifying person for the purposes of paragraph 9.14 (a) if – 
 
(a) in the case of an individual, he is – 
 
(I) the person, or one of the persons, by whom the disposal is made;   
(ii) The spouse, or former spouse, of that person or one of those persons; or 
(iii)  A member of the family of that person or one of those persons; or 
    
(b) In the case of a company, it is associated company of the company by whom the 
disposal is made. 
 
For the purposes of paragraph (b), section 416 of the Income and Corporation Taxes 
Act 1988 (meaning of associated company applies in determining whether a 
company is an associated company of another.   
 
9.14.2 The orders referred to in subparagraph 9.14 (c) are orders under –  
 
(a) section 24 or 24A of the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973 (property adjustment 
orders or orders for the sale of property in connection with matrimonial proceedings); 
 
(b) section 2 of the Inheritance (Provision for Family and Dependants Act 1975 
(orders as to financial provision to be made from estate); 
 
(c) section 17 of the Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984 (property 
adjustment orders or orders for the sale of property after overseas divorce, etc); or 
 
(d) Paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to the Children Act 1989 (orders for financial relief 
against parents). 
 
9.14.3 For the purposes of paragraph 9.14 (d) a compulsory disposal is a disposal of 

property which is acquired compulsorily, or is acquired by a person who has 
made or would have made, or for whom another person has made or would 
have made, a compulsory purchase order authorising its compulsory 
purchase for the purposes for which it is acquired. 

 

60



 

 33 

9.14.4 The grant of an option enabling a person to call for an exempt disposal shall 
be treated as such a disposal made to him. 
 

 
Cessation of repayment conditions 
 
9.15 If at any time while a condition of an award remains in force with respect to a 

dwelling –  
 

(a) the owner of the dwelling to which the condition relates pays the amount of 
the grant to the local housing authority by whom the grant was made, 

 
(b) a mortgagee of the interest of the owner in that dwelling being a mortgagee 

entitled to exercise a power of sale, makes such a payment, 
 

(c) the local housing authority determine not to demand repayment on the breach 
of a grant condition, or 

 
(d) the authority demand repayment in whole or in part on the breach of a grant 

condition and that demand is satisfied, 
 
That grant condition and any other grant conditions shall cease to be in force with 
respect to that dwelling.  
 
9.16 An amount paid by a mortgagee under subsection (9.15) (b) above shall be 

treated as part of the sums secured by the mortgage and may be discharged 
accordingly. 

 
9.17   The purposes authorised for the application of capital money by-  
 

(a) section 73 of the Settled Land Act 1925, 
 

(b) that section as applied by section 28 of the Law of Property Act 1925 in 
relation to trusts for sale, and 

 
(c) section 26 of the Universities and College Estates Act 1925,  

 
include the making of payments under this section. 

61



 

 34 

 
10.0 Boiler replacement scheme 
 

10.1 When older and vulnerable people on low incomes experience a failure in their 

heating systems, this should be rectified in a planned way and can be funded 

by Eco under the Green Deal. However, if identified in an emergency situation, 

it is important that the heating system is reinstated quickly. This is especially 

important during the winter months given the detrimental impact on older and 

vulnerable people's health associated with cold homes. While there is also the 

capacity within the policy/budget (via Repairs Assistance) to undertake planned 

boiler replacement and repairs, there is currently no provision for emergency 

works. Extending the provision of this policy/budget to include replacement 

boilers for low cost emergency works would ensure that the Council is making 

provision for vulnerable households who experience complete heating failure. 

Repairs below £500 however, can be carried out through a fund held by 

Environmental Health with direct referrals made by the to the scheme in 

emergency cases.  

10.2  Boiler replacements will be available at costs up to a maximum of £3,000.  

10.3  Eligibility: – Owner occupiers are subject to the following conditions:  
 

  Conditions:– Boiler has stopped working, is not repairable been officially 
confirmed as obsolete or condemned by a Gas Safe registered contractor.  

 

  Applicant has passed a means test (same as for Repairs Assistance) or is on 
a qualifying passporting benefit as 4.12.  

 

  Applicant must not be eligible for other assistance such as Green Deal, ECO 
or other schemes. 

 

 Two estimates will be sought from Gas Safe registered contractors.  
 
10.4 The Council will, were appropriate, pay the clients contribution under Green 

Deal (Eco). 
 
10.5 Payment:- The grant will be paid following installation, commissioning, a 

satisfactory inspection and upon receipt of an invoice.  
 

62



 

 35 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 3: 
 

Disabled facilities assistance 

63



 

 36 

1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Council will consider valid applications for disabled facilities assistance. 
 
1.2 In accordance with section 1.4 of Chapter 1 of the Policy, Huntingdonshire 

disabled facilities assistance may be made to any person to allow him to carry 
out any of the purposes specified in section 2.1 (a), (b) and (c) of Chapter I of 
the Policy where the main aim of the work is to benefit a disabled occupant and 
to achieve any of the purposes mentioned in section 23 (1) of the 1996 Act or to 
otherwise make the dwelling suitable for the accommodation, welfare and 
employment of a disabled person.   

 
1.3 Applications made for any of the purposes mentioned in section 23 (1) of the 

1996 Act (the purposes for which an application for disabled facilities grant must 
be approved) will be called “top up assistance”. 

 
1.3.1 Applications for top up assistance will be made according to the provisions of 

section 2 of Chapter 3 of the Policy. 
 
1.4 Top-Up Assistance for children’s DFG’s will be subject to a means test 
because the means test on the mandatory element has recently been abolished by 
Government. (June 2006) 
 
1.5 Property Owners will be subject to the means test for Top-Up Assistance for 
adult DFG’s where the disabled person is not the property owner but is the 
beneficiary of the DFG. (July 2007) 
 
1.6 Applications made for any purpose not mentioned in section 23 (1) of the 1996 

Act but to make the dwelling suitable for the accommodation, welfare and 
employment of a disabled person will be called “special purposes assistance”  

 
1.6.1   Applications for special purposes assistance will be made according to the 
provisions of section 3 of Chapter 3 of the Policy. 
 
 
2.0 Top up assistance 
 
Eligibility 
 
2.1 Where, under this Chapter, an application is made for top up assistance, it will 

not be considered to be a valid application unless – 
 
(a) the applicant is a person who has made a valid application for a disabled 

facilities grant under Chapter 1 of Part 1 of the 1996 Act as amended, and 
 
(b) the application for disabled facilities grant has been approved, or the application 

is capable of being approved and approval is pending, and 
 
(c) the amount of disabled facilities grant (as defined by section 34 (3) (c) of the 

1996 Act) that is approved or is likely to be approved will exceed the maximum 
amount of that grant then permitted by order of Secretary of State under section 
33 (3) (a) of the 1996 Act.   

 

64



 

 37 

2.2 Where top up assistance is approved as a grant, no further information than has 
been necessary to determine the application for disabled facilities grant will be 
required from an applicant. 

  
2.3 Where top up assistance is approved as a grant, the provisions relating to its 

administration and, as appropriate, its repayment will be identical to that for 
disabled facilities grant awarded under the 1996 Act. 

 
2.4 Where top up assistance is approved as a loan, the provisions relating to its 

administration and, as appropriate, its repayment will be identical to that for 
disabled facilities grant awarded under the 1996 Act except as provided under 
section 4 of this Chapter. 

 
2.5 Approval of any award of top up assistance over £15k is delegated to the Head 

of Housing Services. (June 2006)  
 
Determination of whether top up assistance is a grant or a loan 
 
2.6 Top up assistance will be in the form of a grant unless – 
 
(a) the application is accompanied by an owner’s certificate, and 
 
(b) the disabled occupant is a member of the owner’s family, and 
 
(c) the works (including those provided under the award of disabled facilities grant) 

will, in the opinion of the Council, enhance the capital value of the dwelling by an 
amount at least equivalent to the amount of top up assistance awarded,  

 
in which case top up assistance will be in the form of a loan. 
 
2.6.1 Any decision to award a loan made according to this paragraph will be 

notified to the applicant in writing, together with a statement of any conditions 
that may apply under section 4 of this Chapter. 

 
2.6.2 No loan will be made unless the applicant returns a signed form of 

acceptance to the conditions detailed in the statement of conditions. 
 
2.6.3 Any decision to award a loan made according to this paragraph may be 

appealed according to the procedure described in section 2 of Chapter 4 of 
the Policy. 

 
2.6.4 In the case of an appeal made on the ground that the work does not 

enhance the capital value of the property to the extent described in 2.6 (d), 
the applicant may seek the advice of a property valuation specialist approved 
of by the Council the cost of which advice may, with the prior approval of the 
Council, be added to any award of top up assistance subsequently made.   

 
 
3.0 Special Purpose Assistance 
 
3.1 Where, under this Chapter, an application is made for special purpose assistance 
it will not be considered a valid application unless – 
 

(a) It is for the purposes mentioned in section 23 (2) of the 1996 Act, and 
 

65



 

 38 

(b) the application is accompanied by a recommendation from an occupational 
therapist that the works are necessary for the accommodation, welfare or 
employment of the disabled occupant.  

 
3.2 No application for special purposes assistance will be approved where to provide 

such assistance would, in the opinion of the Council, prevent or significantly delay 
the award of assistance to a person having a right to apply for a disabled facilities 
grant or top up assistance.  

 
3.2.1 Any decision under this paragraph shall be with regard to the budget set aside 

for the purpose of making grants to disabled persons. 
 
3.3 Any award of special purpose assistance will be made in the form of a loan. 
 
3.4 Any decision to award a loan made according to this paragraph will be notified to 

the applicant in writing, together with a statement of any conditions that may 
apply under section 4 of this Chapter. 

 
3.5 No loan will be made unless the applicant returns a signed form of acceptance to 

the conditions detailed in the statement of conditions. 
 
4.0 Disabled facilities assistance loan conditions 
 
4.1 This section will apply when an application for disabled facilities assistance has 
been approved by the Council in the form of a loan and an offer made to the 
applicant which the applicant has accepted. 
 
4.2   Under this section – 
 
“property” means the dwelling to which the application relates; 
 
“loan” means top up loan or special purposes loan; 
 
“award notice” means the notice sent to the grant applicant notifying him that the 
award has been allocated to him and may now be drawn upon.  
 
“effective date” means the date on which the award notice is issued by the Council; 
 
“certified date” means the date on which the approved works are certified as 
completed to the satisfaction of the Council; 
 
“relevant disposal” has the same meaning as in paragraph 9.12 of Chapter 2 of the 
Policy; 
 
“exempt disposal” has the same meaning as in paragraph 9.13 of Chapter 2 of the 
Policy.  
 
4.3 It is a condition of a loan that the applicant shall enter into a legal agreement with 

the Council to secure such loan either by way of legal charge on the property or 
in such other manner as the Council’s Head of Legal and Estates shall require. 

 
4.4 It is a condition of a loan that if the owner of the property makes a relevant 

disposal (other than an exempt disposal) – 
 
(a) of the whole or part of the premises to which the application relates, 

66



 

 39 

 
(b) after the effective date, and 
 
(c) before the certified date, 
 
he shall repay to the Council on demand the amount of award, if any, that has been 
paid. 
 
4.5 It is a condition of a loan that if the owner of the property makes a relevant 

disposal (other than an exempt disposal) – 
 
(a) of the whole or part of the dwelling, 
 
(b) on or after the certified date, 
 
he shall repay to the Council on demand the amount of the loan that has been paid. 
 
4.6 A condition under paragraphs 4.4 or 4.5 may be registered as a local land 

charge binding on any person who is for the time being an owner of the property. 
 
4.7  Where the Council has the right to demand repayment under paragraphs 4.4 or 

4.5, it may determine not to demand payment or to demand a lesser amount if – 
 
(a) the owner, or any member of the owner’s family who lives in the dwelling as their 
only or main residence, is aged 60 or over, or is infirm, and 
  
(b) the disposal is being made for the purpose of enabling that person who is aged 
60 or over, or is infirm to be cared for, and 
 
(c) the Council is satisfied that such arrangements for the care of that person who is 
aged 60 or over or is infirm will not otherwise be possible. 
 
4.8 Where the Council has the right to demand repayment under paragraphs 4.4 or  

4.5 it may determine not to demand payment or to demand a lesser amount if – 
 
(a) the sale is made to enable the owner or his partner to take up employment and 
the Council is satisfied that the offer would otherwise not be able to be accepted, or 
 
(b) the sale is by a mortgagee and the mortgage was entered into before the award 
was made, or 
 
(c) the Council is satisfied that the human rights of the owner will otherwise be 
infringed 
 
4.9 Where, under paragraph 4.7 and 4.8 the owner makes an application that the 

loan should not be repaid or, as the case may be, some lesser amount than the 
approved amount be repaid, the application will be made in writing to the 
Council’s Head of Housing Services who may – 

 
(a) refuse such an application, or  
 
(b) recommend that the Council’s Head of Revenue Services approve such an 
application. 
 
4.10 Where subparagraph 4.9 (a) applies, the Head of Housing Services will –  

67



 

 40 

 
(a) give the owner his reasons in writing why the application has been refused, 

and  
 

(b) inform the owner of his rights under the Council’s complaints procedure, 
and   

 
(c) he will do so within 30 days of having made such enquiries and requested 

such evidence as he thinks is necessary to determine the application. 
 
4.11 Where subparagraph 4.9 (b) applies– 
  
(a) the Head of Housing Services will make his recommendation to the Head of 
Revenue Services within 14 days of having made such enquiries and requested such 
evidence as he thinks is necessary to make his recommendation, and  he will do so 
in writing to the Head of Housing Services within 14 days, and 
 
(b) the Head of Revenue Services will inform the Head of housing Services in writing 
of his decision within 14 days of having made such enquiries and requested such 
evidence as he thinks is necessary to make his recommendation, and  
 
(c) the Head of Housing Services will, no later than seven days after receiving such a 
written response, then give the owner the reasons in writing why the application has 
been refused or approved and, if it is refused, inform the owner of his rights under the 
Council’s complaint procedure and the local authority Ombudsman procedure. 
 
 
5.0 Disabled persons’ relocation grant 
 
5.1 Applications for assistance made for the purpose described under article 3 (1) (a) 
of the Order (assistance to enable a person to acquire living accommodation) may be 
approved to enable a person to move to more suitable accommodation (up to a 
maximum amount of £5,000) if – 
  
(a) advice has been received from the social services authority under section 24 (3) 

(a) of the 1996 Act, and 
 
(b)  the adaptation recommended by the social services authority is for any of the 

purposes mentioned in section 23 (1) of the 1996 Act, and  
 
(c) in the Council’s opinion the disabled person’s existing accommodation is   

unsuited to being adapted in the manner advised due to the matters mentioned 
in section 24 (3) (b) of the 1996 Act or due to cost or to social reasons, and  

 
(d)  the aggregate cost of all assistance made by the Council under the Policy and 

the 1996 Act would, in the opinion of the Council, be less than the cost of 
adapting the disabled person’s existing accommodation. 

 
5.2 An award made under this section may include the cost of – 
 
(a) removal expenses; 
(b) carpets, window coverings and white goods where the replacement is wholly 

and necessarily required as a consequence of the relocation; 
(c) estate agent’s fees; 
(d) redecoration; 

68



 

 41 

(e) security measures 
(f) any other expense of relocation reasonably incurred. 
 
5.2.1 The maximum amount payable will be limited to £5,000 per relocation. 
 
5.2.2 Unless the Council decides otherwise, grant made for the purpose mentioned 

in subparagraph 5.2 (a) will be calculated according to the cost of the lower of 
two quotes provided by the applicant to the Council and found to be 
acceptable by the Council. 

 
5.2.3 Grant made for the purposes mentioned in subparagraph 5.2 (b) will be 

calculated according to the replacement value of goods of a standard 
equivalent to the applicant’s existing goods. 

 
5.2.4 Grant made for the purposes mentioned in subparagraph 5.2 (c) will be made 

to the full extent of the expense incurred only where the Council accept such 
expense is reasonable. 

 
5.2.5 Grant made for the purpose mentioned in subparagraph 5.2 (d) may not be 

paid if the applicant is transferring to a rented property and redecoration is the 
owner’s responsibility.  

 
5.3 Any award made under this section will be made in the form of a grant and be 

called disabled persons’ relocation grant.. 
 
5.4 Provisions relating to the administration and, where appropriate, the 

repayment of disabled persons’ relocation grant will be identical to those for 
disabled facilities grant awarded under the 1996 Act.  

 
N.B. the means test for Disabled Persons Relocation Grant1 for children’s cases is 
abolished (June 2006);  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
1
 The cost of moving to a more suitable property is a viable option, the Council will pay for some of the 

removal costs instead of adapting the current home.  This is only available where it would save the 
Council money. 

69



 

 42 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 4: 
 

Supplementary Provisions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

70



 

 43 

 
 
1. Death of applicant 
 
1.1 This section applies to any award made under the provisions of the Policy. 
 
1.2 Following the applicant’s death, references in the Policy to the applicant will be 

construed to be a reference to his personal representatives. 
 
1.3 Where the applicant dies after liability has been incurred for any preliminary or 

ancillary services or charges, the Council may, if it thinks fit, pay grant in respect 
of some or all of those matters. 

 
1.4 Where the applicant dies after any works have been started and before the 

works have been completed, the Council may, if it thinks fit, pay grant in respect 
of some or all of the works already carried out or any of the works for which 
assistance has been approved. 

 
1.5 Where an award has been made under section 5 of Chapter 3 of the Policy 

(Disabled persons’ relocation grant) and the applicant dies before the relocation 
has taken place, the Council may, if it sees fit, pay the relocation grant or any 
part thereof. 

 
 
2.0 Review 
 
2.1 Any decision made under the Policy may be reviewed at the request of the 

applicant unless that decision is one made under paragraph 9.10 of Chapter 2 of 
the Policy or paragraph 4.9 of Chapter 3 of the Policy (an application for the 
waiver or reduction of a repayment of a loan) in which case the procedure 
described in the said paragraphs will be in lieu of the procure described in this 
section. 

  
2.2 A request for a review should be made according to the provisions of this section. 
 
2.3 The review request should be addressed to the officer who made the decision 

being appealed against – 
 
(a) in writing, and  
 
(b) within 21 days of the date of the decision letter unless the Council determines 

otherwise in any particular case.  
 
2.4 The review will be conducted by a senior Council officer not previously connected 

with the case (the “Review Officer”). 
 
2.5 The Review Officer will make such enquiries and request such evidence as he 

thinks necessary and will inform the appellant in writing of his decision within 
seven days of making such enquiries receiving such evidence. 

 
2.6 Where he refuses an appeal, the Review Officer will inform the appellant of his 

rights under the Council’s complaint procedure and the local authority 
Ombudsman procedure.  

71



 

 44 

3.0 Reviewing the Policy 
 
3.1 The Policy may be reviewed whenever necessary but in any case no less often 

than annually. 
 
3.2 Minor changes to the Policy may be made by the Head of Housing Services in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing. 
 
3.3 Major changes to the Policy must be made by full Council. 
 
3.4 For the purposes of paragraph 3.2, a minor change is one affecting only the 

administration of the Policy or one which results from a change in legislation or 
statutory guidance which must be observed. 

 
3.5 For the purposes of paragraph 3.3, a major change is one which – 
 

(a) removes from the Policy a power to make assistance, or  
 

(b) adds to the Policy a power to make assistance, or 
 

(c) sets limits, whether financial or otherwise, to existing powers under the 
policy.   

 
Applications falling outside of the policy 
 
3.6 Where an application is made that falls outside of the Policy, the Private Sector 

Housing Officer may, if he thinks fit, recommend that the application be 
considered by the Head of Housing Services and the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing who may then consider the application on its merits and may approve 
the application. 

 
4.0 Budgetary matters 
 
4.1 In the financial year 2003-2004, approvals for assistance made under Chapter 2 

of the policy (repair assistance) will be paid from the budget allocated for 
renovation grants and home repair assistance. 

 
4.2 In the financial year 2003-2004, approvals for assistance made under Chapter 3 

of the Policy (disabled facilities assistance), including special purposes 
assistance and disabled persons’ relocation grant, will be paid from the budget 
allocated for disabled facilities grant. 

 
4.3 The position for 2004-2005 and thereafter will be reviewed during 2003-2004. 

72



 

 45 

Appendix 1: 
 

REGULATORY REFORM ORDER 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

73



 

 46 

Statutory Instrument 2002 No. 1860  

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) 

Order 2002  

 

. 

 
STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS 

 
 

2002 No. 1860 

 

HOUSING, ENGLAND AND WALES 

 

REGULATORY REFORM 

 

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) 
Order 2002 

 
  Made 18th July 2002   
  Coming into force in accordance with article 1(2) and (3)   

 
Whereas: 

(a) The Secretary of State for Transport, Local Government and the Regions, as 
respects England, and the Secretary of State for Wales, as respects Wales, ("the 
Secretaries of State") are each of the opinion that -  

(i) certain provisions of the Housing Act 1985[1], the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989[2], and the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996[3] 
impose burdens upon local housing authorities in the exercise of their functions in 
relation to the provision of financial and other assistance for, or in connection with, 
the improvement, repair and renovation of housing; 
 
(ii) Chapter 1 of Part 1 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 
1996 contains an anomaly, in that it provides for grants under section 1(1)(c) of that 
Act to be available in relation to dwellings but not in relation to houseboats or park 
homes; 
 
(iii) the provisions of this Order do not remove any necessary protection, or prevent 
any person from continuing to exercise any right or freedom which he might 
reasonably expect to continue to exercise; 
 
(iv) the provisions of this Order, taken as a whole, strike a fair balance between the 
public interest and the interests of the persons affected by burdens created by this 
Order; 
 

74

http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note1
http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note2
http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note3


 

 47 

(v) the extent to which this Order removes or reduces the burdens referred to in sub-
paragraph (i), or has other beneficial effects for persons affected by those burdens, 
makes it desirable for this Order to be made; 

(b) the Secretaries of State have consulted[4] -  

(i) such organisations as appear to them to be representative of interests 
substantially affected by the provisions of this Order, 
 
(ii) such organisations as appear to them to be representative of statutory bodies to 
whose functions those provisions relate; 
 
(iii) the National Assembly for Wales, and 
 
(iv) such other persons as they consider appropriate; 

(c) the Secretaries of State, having undertaken that consultation, consider it 

appropriate to proceed with the making of this Order; 

 

(d) the Secretaries of State have laid before Parliament a document 

containing proposals in the form of a draft of this Order, together with details 

of the matters specified in section 6(2) of the Regulatory Reform Act 2001; 

 

(e) in relation to that document, the period for Parliamentary consideration 

(within the meaning of section 8 of that Act) has expired; 

 

(f) the Secretaries of State have had regard to the representations made 

during that period and, in particular, to the Sixth Report (session 2001-2) of 

the Deregulation and Regulatory Reform Committee of the House of 

Commons and the Fifteenth Report (session 2001-2) of the Delegated Powers 

and Regulatory Reform Committee of the House of Lords with regard to that 

document; 

 

(g) the Secretaries of State have laid with a draft of this Order a statement 

giving details of the matters specified in section 8(5) of the Regulatory Reform 

Act 2001; and 

 

75

http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note4


 

 48 

(h) the Secretaries of State have secured the agreement of the National 

Assembly for Wales to the making of this Order (which includes provision 

removing or modifying functions of the Assembly): 

 

     Now, therefore, the Secretary of State for Transport, Local Government 

and the Regions, as respects England, and the Secretary of State for Wales, 

as respects Wales, in exercise of the powers conferred by section 1 of the 

Regulatory Reform Act 2001, with the agreement of the National Assembly for 

Wales, hereby make the following Order, of which a draft has been laid 

before, and approved by resolution of, each House of Parliament: 

 

Citation and commencement 

     1.  - (1) This Order may be cited as the Regulatory Reform (Housing 

Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002. 

 

    (2) The following provisions -  

(a) this article, 
 
(b) articles 2 to 9 and Schedule 1, 
 
(c) article 14 and Schedule 5, 
 
(d) article 15 and Schedule 6, in so far as they relate to -  

(i) the Local Government Act 1988[5], 
 
(ii) the Government of Wales Act 1998[6], and 
 
(iii) the 1989 Act, except sections 93 and 169, 

shall come into force on the day after that on which this Order is made. 

    (3) The following provisions -  

(a) article 10 and Schedule 2, 
 
(b) article 11 and Schedule 3, 
 
(c) article 12 and Schedule 4, 
 
(d) article 13, 

76

http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note5
http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note6


 

 49 

 
(e) article 15 and Schedule 6 (in so far as they are not already in force), 

shall come into force on the day that falls 12 months after the day on which 

this Order is made. 

 

Interpretation 

     2. In this Order, unless the context otherwise requires -  

"the 1996 Act" means the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 
1996[7]; 
"the 1989 Act" means the Local Government and Housing Act 1989[8]; 
"the 1985 Act" means the Housing Act 1985[9]; 
"the appropriate Minister" -  
(a) in relation to a local housing authority in England, means the Secretary of State; 
 
(b) in relation to a local housing authority in Wales, means the National Assembly for 
Wales; 

"assistance" means assistance under article 3; 
"assisted work" means work of any description in relation to the carrying out of which 
assistance is provided; 
"living accommodation" means any of the following -  
(a) a building or part of a building; 
 
(b) a caravan, within the meaning of Part 1 of the Caravan Sites and Control of 
Development Act 1960[10] (disregarding the amendment made by section 13(2) of 
the Caravan Sites Act 1968[11]); and 
 
(c) a boat or similar structure, 

occupied or available for occupation for residential purposes (whether, in the 

case of a building or part of a building, in single or multiple units); and includes 

any yard, garden, outhouses and appurtenances belonging to the building or, 

as the case may be, the caravan, or the boat or similar structure, or usually 

enjoyed with it; 

"local housing authority" means a district council, a London borough council, the 
Common Council of the City of London, a Welsh county council or county borough 
council, or the Council of the Isles of Scilly. 

77

http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note7
http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note8
http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note9
http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note10
http://www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si2002/#note11


 

 50 

Power of local housing authorities to provide assistance 

     3.  - (1) For the purpose of improving living conditions in their area, a local 

housing authority may provide, directly or indirectly, assistance to any person 

for the purpose of enabling him -  

(a) to acquire living accommodation (whether within or outside their area); 
 
(b) to adapt or improve living accommodation (whether by alteration, conversion or 
enlargement, by the installation of anything or injection of any substance, or 
otherwise); 
 
(c) to repair living accommodation; 
 
(d) to demolish buildings comprising or including living accommodation; 
 
(e) where buildings comprising or including living accommodation have been 
demolished, to construct buildings that comprise or include replacement living 
accommodation. 

    (2) The power conferred by paragraph (1)(a) may be exercised to assist a person 
to acquire living accommodation only where the authority -  

(a) have acquired or propose to acquire (whether compulsorily or otherwise) his 
existing living accommodation; or 
 
(b) are satisfied that the acquisition of other living accommodation would provide for 
that person a benefit similar to that which would be provided by the carrying out of 
work of any description in relation to his existing living accommodation. 

    (3) Assistance may be provided in any form. 

 
    (4) Assistance may be unconditional or subject to conditions, including conditions 
as to the repayment of the assistance or of its value (in whole or in part), or the 
making of a contribution towards the assisted work; but before imposing any such 
condition, or taking steps to enforce it, a local housing authority shall have regard to 
the ability of the person concerned to make that repayment or contribution. 

78



 

 51 

    (5) Before a local housing authority provide assistance to any person, they shall -  

(a) give to that person a statement in writing of the conditions (if any) to which the 
assistance is to be subject; and 
 
(b) satisfy themselves that that person has received appropriate advice or information 
about the extent and nature of any obligation (whether financial or otherwise) to 
which he will become subject in consequence of the provision of assistance. 

    (6) A local housing authority may take any form of security in respect of the 

whole or part of any assistance. 

 

    (7) Where any such security is taken in the form of a charge on any 

property, the local housing authority may at any time reduce the priority of the 

charge or secure its removal. 

 

    (8) This article is subject to articles 4 and 5. 

 

    (9) Nothing in this article affects any power of a local housing authority 

under Part 14 of the 1985 Act (loans for acquisition or improvement of 

housing). 

 

Provision of assistance: supplementary 

     4. A local housing authority may not exercise the power conferred by 

article 3 in any case unless -  

(a) they have adopted a policy for the provision of assistance under that article; 
 
(b) they have given public notice of the adoption of the policy; 
 
(c) they have secured that -  

(i) a document in which the policy is set out in full is available for inspection, free of 
charge, at their principal office at all reasonable times; and 
 
(ii) copies of a document containing a summary of the policy may be obtained by post 
(on payment, where a reasonable charge is made, of the amount of the charge); and 

(d) the power is exercised in that case in accordance with that policy. 

79



 

 52 

Protective provisions 

     5.  - (1) A local housing authority may not provide assistance for a purpose 

specified in article 3(1)(b), (c) or (d) unless they are satisfied that the owner of 

the living accommodation concerned has consented to the carrying out of the 

assisted work. 

 

    (2) For the purposes of paragraph (1), "owner" -  

(a) in relation to living accommodation comprising a building or part of a building, 
means the person who -  

(i) is for the time being entitled to receive from a tenant of the accommodation (or 
would be so entitled if the accommodation were let) a rent at an annual rate of not 
less than two-thirds of the net annual value of the accommodation; and 
 
(ii) is not himself liable as tenant of the accommodation, or of property which includes 
the accommodation, to pay such a rent to a superior landlord; 

(b) in relation to living accommodation comprising a caravan or a boat or 

similar structure, means the person who is for the time being entitled to 

dispose of the caravan or boat or similar structure. 

    (3) In paragraph (2), "net annual value", in relation to living accommodation, 

means the rent at which the accommodation might reasonably be expected to 

be let from year to year if the tenant undertook to pay all usual tenant's rates 

and taxes and to bear the cost of repair and insurance and the other 

expenses, if any, necessary to maintain the accommodation in a state to 

command that rent. 

 

    (4) Any dispute arising as to the net annual value of living accommodation 

shall be referred in writing for decision by the district valuer. 

 

    (5) In paragraph (4), "district valuer", in relation to living accommodation in 

respect of which a person has applied or proposes to apply to a local housing 

authority for assistance, means an officer of the Commissioners of Inland 

Revenue appointed by the Commissioners for the purpose of deciding, in 

relation to the authority, any dispute under that paragraph. 

80



 

 53 

 

    (6) Where a local housing authority have specified, or approved the 

specification for, assisted work, they shall not vary, or require the variation of, 

that specification unless they have obtained the consent of every person who, 

in the authority's opinion, is likely to be affected to any material extent by the 

variation. 

 

    (7) A local housing authority shall not vary or revoke any condition to which 

assistance is subject except on the application or with the consent of the 

person to whom the assistance was provided. 

 

Provision of information and evidence 

     6. A local housing authority may require a person -  

(a) to whom assistance has been provided; or 
 
(b) who has applied for assistance, 

to give to them, within such period as they may reasonably specify, such 

information or evidence (including information or evidence relating to his 

financial circumstances) as the authority may reasonably require for the 

purposes of, or purposes connected with, the exercise of their powers under 

article 3. 

 

Contributions towards expenditure of local housing authorities 

     7.  - (1) Contributions towards expenditure incurred by a local housing 

authority in providing assistance may be paid by the appropriate Minister. 

 

    (2) The rate or rates of the contributions, the calculation of the expenditure 

to which they relate and the manner of their payment shall be determined by 

the appropriate Minister. 

 

81



 

 54 

    (3) A determination under paragraph (2) -  

(a) may be made generally or with respect to a particular local housing authority or 
description of authority, including a description framed by reference to authorities in a 
particular area, and 
 
(b) may make different provision in relation to different cases or descriptions of case. 

    (4) Contributions under this article shall be payable subject to such 

conditions as to records, certificates, audit or otherwise as the appropriate 

Minister may impose. 

 

    (5) Where the appropriate Minister is the Secretary of State, the consent of 

the Treasury is required before any determination is made under paragraph 

(2) or any conditions are imposed under paragraph (4). 

 

Recovery of contributions 

     8.  - (1) Where the appropriate Minister has paid contributions under article 

7 to a local housing authority, he may recover from the authority such amount 

as he determines to be appropriate in respect of repayments of assistance. 

 

    (2) The amount shall be calculated by reference to the amount appearing to 

the appropriate Minister to represent his contribution to -  

(a) assistance in respect of which repayments have been made to the authority, or 
 
(b) assistance in respect of which repayments could have been recovered if 
reasonable steps had been taken by the authority, 

together with an appropriate percentage of any interest received by the authority, or 
which would have been received if reasonable steps had been taken by the authority. 
 
    (3) The question what steps it would have been reasonable for the authority to 
take shall be determined by the appropriate Minister. 
 
Amendments consequential on article 3 
     9. Schedule 1, which makes amendments consequential on article 3, shall have 
effect. 
 
Amendment of section 435 of the 1985 Act and consequential provision 
     10.  - (1) Section 435 of the 1985 Act (power of local authorities to advance 
money) is amended in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 2. 
 
    (2) Part 2 of that Schedule, which makes provision consequential on paragraph 

82



 

 55 

(1), shall have effect. 
 
    (3) Nothing in paragraph (1) or (2) affects advances made by a local authority 
under section 435(1)(d) of the 1985 Act (advances for altering, enlarging, repairing or 
improving houses or for facilitating repayment of previous loans) before the date on 
which this article comes into force. 
 

83



 

 56 

EXPLANATORY NOTE  
 
(This note is not part of the Order) 
 
 
This Order confers on local housing authorities in England and Wales a new power to 
improve living conditions in their area (article 3). The new power enables an authority 
to provide assistance to any person for -  

(a) the acquisition of living accommodation, where the authority wish to purchase a 
person's home or as an alternative to adapting, improving or repairing it; 
 
(b) the adaptation or improvement of living accommodation (including by alteration, 
conversion or enlargement, and by the installation of things or injection of 
substances); 
 
(c) the repair of living accommodation; 
 
(d) the demolition of buildings comprising or including living accommodation; 
 
(e) the construction of replacement living accommodation to replace living 
accommodation that has been demolished. 

Authorities are required to consider a person's ability to meet a contribution or 

to repay the assistance, both before imposing a condition to that effect and 

before taking steps to enforce a condition of that kind. They are also required 

to provide a written statement of the conditions to which assistance is subject, 

and to ensure that a person to whom assistance is given has received advice 

or information about any obligations to which he would be subject once 

assistance has been provided. They may take security, including a charge on 

property. 

 

The new power is not exercisable until the authority has adopted and 

published a policy relating to their exercise of the power, and the power must 

be exercised in accordance with the policy (article 4). 

 

Where the new power is to be exercised in relation to a building, the prior 

consent of the owner is required (article 5). Other protective provisions require 

authorities to obtain the consent of the person to whom the assistance was 

provided before varying the specification of any assisted work, and before 

varying or revoking any condition to which the assistance is subject. 

 

84



 

 57 

Authorities are empowered to require the provision of information and 

evidence for the purposes of, or in connection with, the new power (article 6). 

 

Articles 7 and 8 provide for the making of contributions towards authorities' 

expenditure under the new power, and for the recovery of contributions. 

 

Article 9 and Schedule 1 make amendments consequential on article 3. 

 

Article 10 and Part 1 of Schedule 2 amend section 435 of the Housing Act 

1985. Part 2 of that Schedule makes amendments consequential on the 

amendments in Part 1. 

 

Article 11 and Schedule 3 amend Parts 1 and 4 of the Housing Grants, 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. Chapter 1 of Part 1 is retained only 

for the purposes of what was previously mandatory disabled facilities grant. 

The other purposes for which grant is payable under that Chapter, and the 

provisions of Chapters 2 and 3 of Part 1 relating to group repair schemes and 

home repair assistance, are subsumed in the new power. 

 

Article 12 and Schedule 4 make consequential amendments to section 116 of 

the Rent Act 1977, sections 100, 244 and 255 of the Housing Act 1985 and 

section 169 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 

Article 13 amends section 93(5) and (6) of the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989. 

 

Article 14 and Schedule 5 amend Part 7 of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989. The general effect of the amendments is to remove 

restrictions relating to renewal areas. 

 

Article 15 and Schedule 6 provide for the repeal of provisions. 

 

85



 

 58 

Notes: 
 
[1] 1985 c.68.  

[2] 1989 c.42.  

[3] 1996 c.53.  

[4] By virtue of section 5(4) of the Regulatory Reform Act 2001 (c.6), 

consultation undertaken before 10th April 2001 (the day on which the Act was 

passed) is treated as satisfying the consultation requirements of section 5(1) 

of that Act to the extent that, if it had been undertaken after that day, it would 

have satisfied those requirements. A consultation paper "Private sector 

housing renewal: Reform of the Housing Grants, Construction and 

Regeneration Act 1996, Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and 

Housing Act 1985" was published by the Department of the Environment, 

Transport and the Regions in March 2001. Copies may be obtained from the 

Department for Transport, Local Government and the Regions Free Literature, 

PO Box 236, Wetherby, West Yorkshire, LS23 7NB (tel: 0870 1226 236).  

[5] 1988 c.9.  

[6] 1998 c.38.  

[7] 1996 c.53.  

[8] 1989 c.42.  

[9] 1985 c.68.  

[10] 1960 c.62  

[11] 1968 c.52.  

[12] For the date of approval in the case of group repair schemes not 

submitted for specific approval see section 64(1) of the Housing Grants, 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

[13] 1977 c.42. Subsection (3) was substituted by the Housing Grants, 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, Schedule 1, paragraph 1.  

86



 

 59 

[14] 1985 c. 70 Section 20A was inserted by the Housing and Planning Act 

1986 (c.63), Schedule 5, Part 1, paragraph 9(1). Subsection (1) was 

numbered as such by virtue of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

(c.42), Schedule 11, paragraph 90, and amended by the Housing Grants, 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, Schedule 1, paragraph 11(1).  

[15] 1988 c.9.  

[16] Subsection (1A) was inserted by the Housing Act 1996 (c.52), Schedule 

18, paragraph 27.  

[17] See the Local Government Finance Act 1992 c.14; the Caravan Sites and 

Control of Development Act 1960 (c.62); the Caravan Sites Act 1968 (c.52); 

and the Mobile Homes Act 1983 (c.34).  

[18] S.I. 1999/672, to which there are amendments not relevant to this Order.  

 

87



 

 60 

Appendix 2: 

Summary of the Housing Health and 

Safety Rating System (new 
requirements) 

 
THE HAZARD PROFILES 

PHYSIOLOGICAL REQUIREMENTS 

Hydrothermal Conditions 

1 Damp and mould growth 

2 Excess cold 

3 Excess heat 

Pollutants (non-microbial) 

4 Asbestos (and MMF) 

5 Biocides 

6 Carbon Monoxide and fuel combustion products 

7 Lead 

8 Radiation 

9 Uncombusted fuel gas 

10 Volatile Organic Compounds 

B PSYCHOLOGICAL REQUIREMENTS 

Space, Security, Light and Noise 

11 Crowding and space 

12 Entry by intruders 

13 Lighting 

14 Noise 

C PROTECTION AGAINST INFECTION 

15 Domestic hygiene, Pests and Refuse 

16 Food safety 

17 Personal hygiene, Sanitation and Drainage 

18 Water supply for Domestic Purpose 

D PROTECTION AGAINST ACCIDENTS 

Falls 

19 Falls associated with baths etc 

88



 

 61 

20 Falls on the level 

21 Falls associated with stairs and steps 

22 Falls between levels 

Electric Shocks, Fires, Burns and Scalds 

23 Electrical hazards 

24 Fire 

25 Hot surfaces and materials 

Collisions, Cuts and Strains 

26 Collision and entrapment 

27 Explosions 

28 Ergonomics 

29 Structural collapse and failing elements 

89



 

 62 

 

Appendix 3: 
 
AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCIL’S HOUSING RENEWAL ASSISTANCE 
POLICY 
 
The seven recommended changes to the Repairs Assistance Policy were agreed by 
Cabinet with a few caveats on 29 June 2006 they are summarised below; 
 

1. the Council provide small grants of up to £800 per case to help people on low 
incomes to pay for their contribution to Warm Front grants2.  This should be 
called ‘Warm Front Top-Up Grant’; 

 
2. approval levels for DFG Top-Up3 Assistance are increased to £15k to reflect 

in the increase in building costs and the decision on whether to award DFG 
Top Up Assistance over £15k is delegated to the Head of Housing Services 
instead of the Head of Housing Services together with the Director of 
Operational Services; 

 
3. the decision on whether to increase officer approval levels in 1. and 2.  above 

in the future is delegated to the Head of Housing Services and Housing 
Portfolio holder instead of Cabinet; 

 
 

4. top-Up Assistance for children’s DFG’s is subject to a means test because the 
means test on the mandatory element has recently been abolished by 
Government; 

 
5. the means test for Disabled Persons Relocation Grant4 for children’s cases is 

abolished;  
 
 

6. if applicants owe money to Huntingdonshire District Council or any Registered 
Social Landlord they should demonstrate that they have an agreed arrears 
payment plan in place and that they are up to date with the payments; and 

 
7. the policy should be amended to reflect that the Housing Fitness Standard 

(Section 189 & 190 of the Housing Act 1985) has been replaced by the 
Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS) (Part 1 of the Housing Act 
2004). 

   
 
 
 

                                                
2
 Warm Front is the Government’s scheme to install energy efficiency measures in people’s homes.  It is 

awarded to those who are in fuel poverty. 
3
 DFG Top-Up is available for owner occupiers only.  If the cost of a DFG exceeds £25k mandatory limit, 

the Council can offer Top-Up.  This is a loan and a charge is placed on the property. 
4
 The cost of moving to a more suitable property is a viable option, the Council will pay for some of the 

removal costs instead of adapting the current home.  This is only available where it would save the 
Council money. 

90



 

 63 

 

Appendix 4: 
 
AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCIL’S HOUSING RENEWAL ASSISTANCE 
POLICY 
 
The three recommended changes to the Repairs Assistance Policy were agreed by 
Cabinet on 19 July 2007 they are summarised below; 
 

1. That exempt disposal should only apply if the person who inherits the 
property in question intends to continue to live in the property as their 
principal home otherwise it should be deemed to be a relevant disposal and 
the loan repaid. 

 
2. Property owners should be subject to the means test for Top-Up Assistance 

for adults DFG’s where the disabled person is not the property owner but is 
the beneficiary of the DFG.   

 
3. Where the equity is sufficient to support a loan, the Council will offer a loan 

for the cost of work, subject to the usual eligibility and means test.  Where 
the equity is insufficient to support the total cost of work, a grant can be 
considered for the remaining amount by the Private Sector Housing Officer 
or a more senior officer.  

 
 
 
  

Appendix 5: 
 
AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCIL’S HOUSING RENEWAL ASSISTANCE 
POLICY 
 
The three recommended changes to the Repairs Assistance Policy were agreed by 
Cabinet on 19 November 2014 they are summarised below; 
 

1. Having considered the policy it was agreed that the maximum relocation grant 
would be reduced from £15k to £5k in order to limit exposure to the Council’s 
revenue costs but try and help more families with moving costs. 

 
 
 

Appendix 6 
 
AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCIL’S HOUSING RENEWAL ASSISTANCE 
POLICY 
 

On 16th March 2017, HDC Cabinet was asked to approve the following changes: 

91



 

 64 

1. Repair Assistance will change to Discretionary Minor Repairs Assistance with the 

maximum amount per application reduced from £20,000 to £5,000. 

2. Landlord Grant will be withdrawn as it does not meet the objective of the Better Care 

Fund. 

3. Special Purpose Assistance will change from a loan to a grant to enable assistance to be 

provided expediently. 

4.  Boiler Replacement Scheme will be withdrawn but funding for boilers may be provided 

through Discretionary Minor Repairs Assistance. 

5.  Priority will be given to Disabled Facilities Grant funding ahead of other renewal 

assistance schemes. 

 

92



 

 

Agenda Item No: 8 
DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT REVIEW 
 
To: Adults Committee 
 
Meeting Date: 3 November 2016 
 
From: Wendy Ogle-Welbourn, Interim Executive Director: Children, Families 
and Adults Services 
 
Electoral division(s): All 
 
Forward Plan ref: Not applicable 
 
Key decision: No 
 
Purpose: To provide an update on the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Review 
 
Recommendation: The Committee is asked to note the update on the DFG 
Review and approve the Joint Housing Adaptations Agreement which replaces 
the County Council’s existing Disabled Facilities Grant Top-up Policy 
 
Officer contact: 
Name: Trish Reed 
Post: Interim Service Development 
Manager - HRS 
Email: trish.reed@cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
Tel: 01223 714565 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Cambridgeshire DFG Review was established in February 2016 as a work 
stream of the Older People’s Accommodation Board. The aim of the review was to 
take a more strategic approach to housing adaptations, encompassing the current 
service model and the capital and revenue funds contributed to the DFG process by 
a range of partners. The review group comprises representatives from each District 
Council, the County Council, the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and 
Foundations (the national body for Home Improvement Agencies). 
 
1.2 Disabled Facilities Grant is administered by District Councils who receive a 
financial allocation from Government (the DFG Capital Allocation) to spend on 
adaptations. This has been received via the Better Care Fund (BCF) since 2015/16. 
In 2016/17, there was a significant uplift in the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) from 
£1.9 million in Cambridgeshire in 2015/16, to £3.4 million in 2016/17. This was 
passed in full to District Councils by the County Council in line with national policy, 
while the DFG review project examined our overall approach and considered the 
implications of these changes. 
 
1.3 The County Council and CCG also contribute revenue funding to each District for 
the operation of the three Home Improvement Agencies (HIAs) in the County – the 
Council contributes £314k and the CCG £80k. This funding is also included within 

93



 

 

the BCF budget. The BCF creates a joint budget to enable health and social care 
services to work more closely together across each Health and Wellbeing Board 
area. 
 
2.0 DFG REVIEW - KEY FINDINGS 
 
2.1 The DFG draft report, attached at Appendix 1, highlights three key findings: 
 

New services are needed that consider people’s needs in context, including early 
conversations and planning for the longer term: services need to engage with people 
before they need an adaptation, and should encourage people to think about 
whether the accommodation they are living in is suitable for the longer term 
 

Existing services need to adapt to support a growing population: performance in 
many parts of the county is too slow in the implementation of adaptations funded 
through DFGs. It is recommended that the ability to ‘fast track’ commonly requested 
small adaptations (e.g. level access showers) be introduced and that a full review of 
existing processes and procedures is needed to speed up the DFG process. 
 

Funding arrangements across the system will need to change to support a shift in 
focus: the significant increase in capital funding offers new opportunities for the HIAs 
to generate more fees and become financially self-sustainable. 
 
2.2 HIAs are able to charge fees for the adaptation work that they undertake. This is 
often in the region of 15% of the cost of the work. The charge is levied against the 
overall grant, not attributed to the individual service user. HIAs that are dependent on 
fees as their sole source of income have an incentive to complete work quickly and 
in so doing increase the overall number of adaptations completed in the year. It is 
recommended that a proportion of existing revenue funding should be diverted to 
prevention and early intervention services in order to put in place other measures as 
an alternative to housing adaptation. 
 
2.3 To inform the DFG Review, current levels of need and the performance of the 
existing HIAs were reviewed by Public Health, and by Foundations, the national body 
for Home Improvement Agencies. This exercise found that the need for adaptations 
will continue in line with the increasing older population. However, performance of 
the exiting HIA arrangements in terms of time taken to deliver adaptations needs to 
be improved. For example in Peterborough the typical time for completion of a level 
access shower is 30 days. This compares to six months in the combined 
Cambridgeshire HIA (Cambridge, South Cambridgeshire and Huntingdonshire) 
although is a more straightforward process for a unitary authority. 
 
2.4 The review findings have been accepted by the DFG Review Group, and 
discussions on how to take the findings and service recommendations forward are in 
progress. These include the development and funding of new prevention pathways, 
whilst continuing in the short term to support the HIAs to improve their performance. 
It is proposed that this will be achieved through a tapering of County Council/CCG 
revenue funding and more effective use of the DFG capital allocation. 
 

94



 

 

2.5 It has been agreed that (District Councils will receive a reduced level of revenue 
funding for a period of 12 months from 1 April 2017 to provide transitional support. In 
return, a proportion of the DFG capital allocation will be passed back to the County 
Council. The precise levels of capital and revenue funding are currently under 
discussion. This will provide support to the HIAs to transform their operations, whilst 
also supporting the County Council to meet its savings requirements in the context of 
the removal of the Adult Social Care Capital Grant. This arrangement would cease 
on 31 March 2018. This approach will produce a saving to the Council of £150K in 
2017/18, as set out in the Council’s draft business plan. An agreement setting out 
key indicators to support the change management process would be provided for the 
Home Improvement Agencies. It has been agreed with District Councils that 10% of 
the current revenue (£38k) would be retained in 2017/18 to support the development 
of the Early Help/Housing Options pathway. 
 
2.6 Further discussions are taking place to develop a more flexible approach to using 
the DFG capital allocation. The regulatory framework (Regulatory Reform (Housing 
Assistance) Order 2002) provides considerable scope to use capital to deliver 
improved outcomes through the development of a Housing Adaptations Policy. 
 
2.7 While the district housing authorities aspire to reach agreement on a 
Cambridgeshire Joint Adaptations Policy this will take some time to develop. In the 
meantime a Cambridgeshire Housing Adaptations Agreement has been drafted (see 
Appendix 2) containing principles that all partners can sign up to, including flexible 
use of the DFG Capital allocation for other grants, relocation expenses and ‘fast 
track’ adaptations. It also includes provision for the District Councils to use an 
element of the DFG Capital Allocation to provide Top-Up grants or loans that are 
currently the responsibility of the County Council. This means that the current DFG 
Top-Up Policy adopted by the County Council will cease to exist. This will remove a 
significant amount of duplication of officer time and confusion for vulnerable 
households who currently apply to both district and County Councils. 
 
3.0 ALIGNMENT WITH CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 
3.1 Developing the local economy for the benefit of all 
3.1.1 There are no significant implications for this priority. 
 
3.2 Helping people live healthy and independent lives 
3.2.1 The overall approach described in the key findings is to promote a shift in how 
support is provided – towards support that is focused on promoting independence 
and keeping people independent and well through advice and support to access 
appropriate housing at an early stage. This compliments the Council’s Transforming 
Lives approach to social work. The transformation activity described in the 
recommendations from this report will make a strong contribution to this priority. 
 
3.3 Supporting and protecting vulnerable people 
3.3.1 The development of a Cambridgeshire Housing Adaptations Policy will ensure 
that as far as possible there is a consistent approach to adapting the homes of 
vulnerable households across the County. The development of additional Early Help 
prevention options promoting a more joined up approach across housing, health and 
social care presents additional safeguarding opportunities. 

95



 

 

4.0 SIGNIFICANT IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Resource implications 
4.1.1 The intended withdrawal of a proportion of the revenue funding revenue by the 
County Council in 2017/18 will deliver a £150k saving. The withdrawal of the 
remaining revenue from 2018/19 will allow the Council to redirect this towards 
developing and funding new prevention pathways. It is possible that an element of 
the DFG Capital Allocation can be retained by the County Council with the 
agreement of all partners in future. 
 
4.1.2 The ability to fund Top-up grants from the DFG Capital Allocation rather than 
from the Councils own resources provides more financial certainty in this area. 
 
4.2 Statutory, Risk and Legal Implications 
 
4.2.1 The DFG Review considered the districts’ statutory duty to provide DFGs for 
vulnerable households. The resulting policy is sufficiently flexible to allow the districts 
discretion in their application of the policy, providing it meets the joint principles of 
partnership working and prevention. 
 
4.2.2 The revenue funding withdrawal provides an element of risk for the districts 
with regard to resourcing home improvement agency services. However officers are 
working closely with districts to mitigate this risk and ensure that the HIAs can 
continue to deliver services in the medium term while they work towards improved 
performance and financial sustainability. 
 
4.2.3 While there is no statutory requirement for the County Council to provide topup 
funding for DFGs there has in recent years been a policy to allow this in order to 
meet the social care needs of vulnerable households. In 2014 this Policy was 
amended to provide top-up by way of a loan rather than a grant and demand has 
subsequently fallen. The new Cambridgeshire Housing Adaptations Agreement 
allows the district housing authorities to manage and administer Top-up funding on 
behalf of the County Council therefore the Councils’ own Policy will end when the 
new Agreement comes into force on 1st April 2017. 
 
4.3 Equality and Diversity Implications 
4.3.1 There are no significant implications within this category. Disabled Facilities 
Grants are by definition provided for vulnerable households that include an adult or 
child with a disability. 
 
4.4 Engagement and Consultation Implications 
4.4.1 There are no significant implications within this category. All partners have 
been fully engaged and consulted throughout the Review process through 
workshops and multi-agency project group meetings. As there will be no direct 
impact on service users (other than increased funding and a desire to speed up 
adaptations) it has not been felt necessary to consult directly with them. 
 
4.5 Localism and Local Member Involvement 
4.5.1 There are no significant implications within this category. 
 

96



 

 

4.6 Public Health Implications 
4.6.1 Better coordination of services and access to suitable adapted housing for 
vulnerable households is important for the overall health of the local population. A 
shift towards a more preventative approach to housing adaptations that considers 
people’s needs in context, including early conversations and planning for the longer 
term, will form part of a wider shift towards more preventative services which support 
the overall aims of Cambridgeshire’s Better Care Fund Plan and Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
Source Documents Location 
DFG Review Report 
2nd floor, Octagon, Shire Hall 
Draft Housing Adaptations 
Agreement 
2nd floor, Octagon, Shire Hall 
 
Implications Officer Clearance 
 
Have the resource implications been cleared by Finance? 
Yes 
Name of Financial Officer: 
T Kelly (Adults) 
 
Has the impact on Statutory, Legal and Risk implications been cleared by 
LGSS Law? 
No 
Name of Legal Officer: 
Lynne Owen 
 
Are there any Equality and Diversity implications? 
Yes 
Charlotte Black 
 
Have any engagement and communication implications been cleared by 
Communications? 
No 
Name of Officer: 
Simon Cobby 
 
Are there any Localism and Local Member involvement issues? 
Yes 
Charlotte Black 
 
Have any Public Health implications been cleared by Public Health 
Yes 
Tess Campbell 

97



This page is intentionally left blank



Public 
Key Decision - No 

 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
Title: Representation on External Organisations – Quarterly 

Update Report 
 
Meeting/Date: Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Communities and 

Environment) – 7th March 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and Customers) 
– 1st February 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Economy and Growth) – 2nd 
February 2017  

  
Executive Portfolio: Executive Leader of the Council 
 
Report by: Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) 
 
Wards affected: All 
 

 
Executive Summary:  
 
Huntingdonshire District Council has representation on 49 external organisations and 
this report supplies Overview and Scrutiny with an update from the representatives 
on those external organisations. 
 
The reason for the report is that the Cabinet decided at its meeting on 21st July 2016 
to require appointed Members to report on a quarterly basis, in writing, to the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel.  
 
The external organisations have been divided according to where they broadly fit in 
terms of panel remit in order to allow the panels to focus in on areas of interest. This 
means that Communities and Environment have 39 under their remit, Economy and 
Growth have 8 under their remit and Performance and Customers have 2 under their 
remit. 
 
In this quarter, no update has been received in relation to 9 organisations and there 
was nothing to report from a further 14 organisations.  
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Panels are invited to: 
 
1) comment on the report and identify any individual organisation they would like a 
verbal update on at a future Panel meeting or receive further detail on; and, 
 
2) comment on the frequency of the report. 
 

 

99

Agenda Item 7



 

Communities and Environment 
 

1 Cambridgeshire Health and Well-Being Board 

Councillor J M Palmer 

 
Councillor Palmer has confirmed that he has not attended any meetings of the Board in 
the last quarter. 
 

 

2 Cambridgeshire Community Safety Strategic Board 

Councillor S Criswell 

 
Councillor Criswell was not invited to attend a Board meeting. 
 

 

3 Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel 

Councillor R B Howe with Councillor Mrs A Dickinson as a substitute. 

 
No Update 
 

 

4 Huntingdonshire Local Strategic Partnership – Children and Young People 

Councillor J M Palmer 

 
Councillor Palmer has confirmed that he has not attended any meetings of the 
Partnership in the last quarter. 
 

 

5 Huntingdonshire Local Strategic Partnership – Health and Well-Being 

Councillor J M Palmer 

 
Councillor Palmer has confirmed that he has not attended any meetings of the 
Partnership in the last quarter. 
 

 

6 Huntingdonshire Local Strategic Partnership – Huntingdonshire Community 
Safety Partnership 

Councillor S Criswell 

 
Councillor Criswell was in attendance for a meeting of the Partnership on 6th October 
2016. The topics covered were: Police and Crime Panel; Transforming Lives; Oxmoor 
Assessment; Vulnerability; Reoffending and Community Resilience. He has arranged 
for the lead officer from Cambridgeshire County Council to attend a meeting to 
introduce the County Resilience Strategy. 
 

 

7 Recycling in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Board 

Councillor R C Carter 

 
Councillor Carter attended the Board meeting on 27th September 2016. In attendance 
were representatives from Cambridgeshire County Council, Peterborough City Council 
and Cambridgeshire’s District Councils. At the meeting the Board reviewed the new 
incineration waste disposal method by Peterborough City Council and had 
presentations on types of packaging and the way the industry was moving forward. 
There was nothing of note that affects HDC. 
 

100



 

8 Cambridgeshire Armed Forces Community Covenant Board 

Councillor R Harrison 

 
The last meeting was week commencing 10th October 2016 however Councillor 
Harrison was unable to attend. The topic for discussion is general conversation 
regarding the Board. There is nothing of note that affects HDC. 
 

 

9 Huntingdonshire Volunteer Centre – District 

Councillors D Harty and K M Baker 

 
Councillor Baker attended a meeting on 14th September 2016. Funding was discussed 
now that their grants have been reduced. A report was presented on how their new 
shop in Huntingdon was doing. 
 

 

10 Great Fen Project Steering Group 

Councillors G J Bull and D Watt 

 
Councillor Watt attended a meeting of the Group on 26th November 2016. He had 
drafted a report which wasn’t discussed but may be included in a future meeting. At the 
meeting it was decided that it would be too costly to draw up a new master plan 
therefore the existing one would be updated with supplements. Councillor Watt 
declined to approve the latest supplemented items on the grounds that insufficient 
consideration had been given to walk in access from Yaxley and Farcet. 
 
Councillor Bull attended the meeting held on 26th September 2016 but will no longer 
attend future meetings. 
 

 

11 Internal Drainage Board – Alconbury and Ellington 

Councillors K M Baker and J White 

 
Councillor Baker attended the Board meeting on 7th June 2016. Topics discussed 
were: the proposed drainage work 2016/17 (which was agreed), the flooding of 
Alconbury in March 2016 and the lack of maintenance of Alconbury brook by the IDB. 
 

 

12 Internal Drainage Board – Benwick 

Councillor J M Palmer 

 
Councillor Palmer has confirmed that he has not attended any meetings of the Board in 
the last quarter. 
 

 

13 Internal Drainage Board – Bluntisham 

Councillor M Francis 

 
Nothing to report. 
 

 

14 Internal Drainage Board – Conington and Holme 

Councillor T Alban 

 
Nothing to report. 

101



 

15 Internal Drainage Board – Holmewood and District 

Councillor D Watt 

 
The Board met on 17th November 2016. Complaints were raised that the Great Fen 
Project is wiping out wildlife. Planning delays were also mentioned. 
 

 

16 Internal Drainage Board – Ramsey First (Hollow) 

Councillor J M Palmer 

 
Councillor Palmer has confirmed that he has not attended any meetings of the Board in 
the last quarter. 
 

 

17 Internal Drainage Board – Ramsey Fourth (Middle Moor) 

Councillor J M Palmer 

 
Councillor Palmer has confirmed that he has not attended any meetings of the Board in 
the last quarter. 
 

 

18 Internal Drainage Board – Ramsey, Upwood and Great Raveley 

Councillors R B Howe and P L E Bucknell 

 
Councillor Bucknell attended meetings on 7th January 2016 and 19th May 2016. At the 
meetings there was discussion of a new pumping station and some buildings too near 
the IDB water course. 
 

 

19 Internal Drainage Board - Sawtry 

Councillors R G Tuplin and D M Tysoe 

 
Nothing to report. Board only meets once a year. 
 

 

20 Internal Drainage Board – Sutton and Mepal 

Councillor S Criswell 

 
The first Board meeting of the year was the week commencing 9th January 2017. 
 

 

21 Internal Drainage Board – The Ramsey 

Councillors E R Butler and J M Palmer 

 
Councillor Palmer has not attended any meetings of the Board. 
 

 

22 Internal Drainage Board – Warboys, Somersham and Pidley 

Councillors G J Bull and Mrs J Tavener 

 
Councillor Bull attended the meeting held on 24th November 2016. He also attended 
the inspection visit. 
 

 
 

102



23 Internal Drainage Board – Whittlesey 

Councillor D Watt 

 
Councillor Watt attended the meeting on 8th November 2016. The Board discussed the 
following: the A605 bypass implications, pump upgrade quote of £160k (budget is only 
£90k), the flood risk cause by badgers digging into the banks and complaints about 
Planners not listening. 
 

 

24 Internal Drainage Board – Woodwalton Drainage Commissioners 

Councillor R B Howe 

 
No Update 

 

25 Little Gransden Aerodrome Consultative Committee 

Councillor R J West 

 
Councillor West provided papers for the Panel which were tabled at its meeting on 6th 
December 2016. 
 

 

26 Local Water Forum 

Councillor Mrs R E Mathews 

 
No meetings attended. Councillor Mathews unsure whether the Forum still exists. 

 

27 Luminus Homes 

Councillors R Fuller, R C Carter, Mrs R E Mathews and J White 

 
Councillor Fuller has nothing to report other than that none of the HDC appointees 
have been registered at Companies House and are therefore still not being invited to 
take part in meetings. 
 

 

28 Luminus Group (Parent) 

Councillor R Fuller 

 
Councillor Fuller has nothing to report other than that none of the HDC appointees 
have been registered at Companies House and are therefore still not being invited to 
take part in meetings. 
 

 

29 Oak Foundation 

Councillor D Harty 

 
No Update 

 

30 Middle Level Commissioners 

Councillor G J Bull 

 
Councillor Bull attended the last meeting held on 3rd November 2016. 

 

31 Oxmoor Community Action Group 

Councillor Mrs J Tavener 

 
No Update 

103



 

32 Red Tile Wind Farm Trust Fund Ltd 

Councillor P L E Bucknell 

 
Councillor Bucknell attended the meeting held on 27th October 2016. There were 10 
applications for grants with 6 awarded. 

 

33 Stilton Children and Young People’s Facilities Association 

Councillor T Alban 

 
Nothing to report. 

 

34 Trustees of Kimbolton School Foundation 

Councillor J A Gray 

 
Councillor Gray has attended (and Chaired) one finance committee meeting as well as 
one meeting of the Full Board of Governors since the last update. In addition he has 
attended one evening training seminar, the School Open Day, Founders Day and the 
Carol Service. 

 

35 Cambridgeshire Consultative Group for the Fletton Brickworks Industry 

Councillor E R Butler 

 
No Update 

 

36 Little Barford Power Station Liaison Committee 

Councillor J E Corley 

 
No Update 

 

37 Needingworth Quarry Local Liaison Committee 

Councillors R C Carter and M Francis 

 
Nothing to report. 

 

38 Warboys Landfill Local Liaison Group 

Councillor P L E Bucknell 

 
Nothing to report. 

 

39 Cambridgeshire County Council Health Committee 

Councillor Mrs A Dickinson 

 
Councillor Dickinson gave a verbal update to the Panel on 6th December 2016. She 
attended the Joint Meeting of the Health Committee on 9th November 2016 where after 
evidence gathering and witness statements both Cambridgeshire County Council and 
Peterborough City Council Members agreed in principle to the merger of the trusts 
running Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals and Hinchingbrooke Hospital. Councillor 
Dickinson attended the meeting of the committee on 10th November 2016 but 
submitted her apologies for the meeting held on 15th December 2016.  
 
As of 10th February 2017 the Panel has appointed Councillor Mrs J Tavener as 
its representative on the Health Committee. 
 

 

104



CURRENT ACTIVITIES OF THE ECONOMY AND GROWTH AND PERFORMANCE AND CUSTOMERS PANELS 
 

STUDY 
 

OBJECTIVES PANEL STATUS 

Town Centres/ 
High Street Viability 

To scrutinise the effects of 
the current policies affecting 
town centres in order to 
shape future polices and 
town centre use. 
 

Economy and 
Growth 

Members decided that before establishing a task and finish 
group, the Executive Councillors responsible for the topic 
should attend a future Panel meeting and explain what work 
has been done so far. 
 
The Panel received at its meeting in December 2016 the 
Review of Street Markets (Huntingdon and St Ives). 
 
The Executive Councillor for Strategic Resources was in 
attendance at the Panel meeting in December 2016 to 
discuss the Council’s Commercial Investment Strategy. 
 
BID Huntingdon attended the Panel meeting in February 
2017 to explain its work and the upcoming BID Stage 2 
Ballot. 
 
The Panel also have a separate work stream dedicated to 
working on the Car Parking Strategy. 

Strategic Review of 
Parking 

To review the current level 
of car parking provision and 
produce a Parking Strategy 
for Huntingdonshire.  
 

Economy and 
Growth 

Following the presentation of the Review of Fees and 
Charges – Car Parks, at the Panel meeting in October 
2016, the Panel decided to include the topic of Car Park 
Fees on to its work programme.  
 
The Cabinet agreed the establishment of a task and finish 
group to review the parking strategy of the Council. The 
Panel appointed Councillors D B Dew, R Fuller, I D 
Gardener and T D Sanderson to the task and finish group. 
As of December 2016 Councillor R Fuller is no longer a 
Member of the group. 
  
Officers need to establish how the task and finish group will 
work with the Executive Leader’s task force on car parks. 
 
A scoping document is expected to be presented at the 
Panel meeting in April. 

105

A
genda Item

 8



STUDY 
 

OBJECTIVES PANEL STATUS 

Local Plan To 2036 To scrutinise the work of 
Officers in the delivery of the 
Council’s Local Plan to 
2036. 

Economy and 
Growth 

The Panel had previously decided that this topic is the 
number one priority on the work programme. The Panel will 
continue to receive update reports on the topic. In addition 
the Chairman has agreed to become the Panel’s expert on 
the topic. 
 
The latest update report was presented in December 2016. 
The next update is in April 2017. 
 

Housing Working Group The working group want to 
scrutinise the Housing 
Strategy. 

Economy and 
Growth 

Members decided that a Housing Working Group (formally 
known as the Affordable Housing Working Group and the 
Registered Social Providers Working Group) should be 
resurrected to review housing policy as and when required.  
 
Officers are currently working on a scoping document for 
consultation with the Panel. 
 
The Panel are due to receive a report on the Housing 
Strategy at the Panel meeting in April 2017. 
 

Devolution To examine the District’s 
role in Devolution. 
 

Economy and 
Growth 

Members decided that before appointing a Panel expert, the 
Executive Councillor responsible for the topic should attend 
a future Panel meeting and explain what work has been 
done so far.  
 
The Executive Leader updated Members on Devolution at 
the Panel meeting in November 2016. 
 

Shared Services 
Strategy 

To be decided. Performance and 
Customers 

Members agreed at the Scrutiny Work Programming 
Session on 20th September that this area requires 
scrutinising.  
 
The Panel have invited the Executive Councillor responsible 
for the topic to attend a future Panel meeting and explain 
what work has been done so far. 
 
 

106



STUDY 
 

OBJECTIVES PANEL STATUS 

Corporate Plan To review the Performance 
Indicators and Key Actions 
of the Corporate Plan. 

Performance and 
Customers 

At the Panel meeting in February, Members are to establish 
a task and finish group reviewing elements of the Corporate 
Plan. The Panel have appointed Councillors M F Shellens, 
R G Tuplin, D M Tysoe and R J West to the task and finish 
group. The group will meet on 27th February 2017. 
 

Cambridgeshire County 
Council Budget Scrutiny 

To review the 
Cambridgeshire County 
Council’s Budget proposals 
and assess their impact 
upon Huntingdonshire and 
it’s residents. 

Performance and 
Customers 

Following the budget scrutiny exercise during the last 
Municipal Year, the County Council have decided to carry 
out a budget scrutiny exercise for 2017/18. 
 
Representatives from the County Council were in 
attendance at the Panel meeting in December 2016 to 
present the County Council Budget for 2017-22. A response 
to the budget proposals has been sent to the County 
Council. 
 

Use of Council Assets To be decided. Performance and 
Customers 

Members agreed at the Scrutiny Work Programming 
Session on 20th September that this area requires 
scrutinising. The Panel will decide at its meeting on 11th 
January 2017 whether to accept the item onto the work 
programme and how to proceed. 
 

Taxi and Hackney 
Carriages Policies 

To be decided. Performance and 
Customers 

Members agreed at the Scrutiny Work Programming 
Session on 20th September that this area requires 
scrutinising. The Panel will decide at its meeting on 11th 
January 2017 whether to accept the item onto the work 
programme and how to proceed. 
 

 

107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Panel 
Date 

Decision Action Response 
Date for 
Future 
Action 

 

1 
 

 
 

 
 

01/11/16 

 
Future of Hinchingbrooke Country Park, Paxton Pits, 
Godmanchester Nursery and Public Rights of Way 
 
The Panel received an exempt report on the contractual 
arrangements and potential improvement programme of 
Hinchingbrooke Country Park. 
 

 
 
 
 
The Cabinet received the same 
report but including the Panel’s 
comments at its meeting in 
November 2016.  
 

 
 
 
 
The Cabinet made a decision 
on the report. The decision 
remains confidential whilst 
negotiations are taking place. 
 
The Cambridgeshire County 
Council Officer responsible for 
Public Rights of Way is due to 
give a presentation at March’s 
Panel meeting. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

07/03/2017 

 

 
 
 

12/07/16 

 
Waste Round Reconfiguration 
 
A report was presented to the Panel informing Members that 
the Operations Division was undertaking a Waste Round 
Reconfiguration. 
 

 
 
 
An update report was presented 
at the Panel meetings in 
September, October and 
February. 
 

 
 
 
The Head of Operations is due 
to give a verbal update in 
March 2017. 
 
A final post implementation 
report is to be presented at the 
Panel meeting in June 2017. 
 

 
 
 

07/03/2017 
 
 
 

06/06/2017 

 

 
 
 

04/10/16 
 
 

 
Huntingdonshire CCTV Network 
 
At the request of the Executive Leader, Members agreed to 
examine the utilisation of CCTV in the market towns by 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary. 

 
 
 
The work is to be scoped out. 
 
 

 
 
 
The Panel are to consider a 
scoping document at its Panel 
meeting in January. 

 
 
 

10/01/2017 
 
 

109

A
genda Item

 9



Panel 
Date 

Decision Action Response 
Date for 
Future 
Action 

 

2 
 

 
10/01/17 

 
The Panel considered and agreed a scoping document for 
the task and finish group. The following Members were 
appointed to the group: Councillors T Alban, Mrs A 
Donaldson, D A Giles, P Kadewere and Mrs J Tavener. 
 

 
The group met on 8th February. 
Huntingdonshire Business 
Against Crime was in 
attendance to give evidence. 

 
The group are to meet with 
Inspector Angel of 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
before providing a final report 
to be presented to the Panel 
and Cabinet in April. 
 

 
04/04/2017 

 

 
 
 
 

06/10/16 

 
Community Resilience Plan including relationships with 
Parish and Town Councils and the County Council 
 
Members agreed to keep the topic on the work programme 
however before appointing task and finish group, Members 
would like to invite the relevant Executive Councillor 
responsible to a future Panel meeting to update the Panel on 
what work has been done so far. 
 

 
 
 
 
An invite will be sent to the 
Executive Councillor for 
Community Resilience to attend 
a future Panel meeting. 

 
 
 
 
The Portfolio Holder has 
changed. An invitation to 
attend a future Panel meeting 
has been sent to the new 
Portfolio Holder. 
 

 
 
 
 

To be 
decided. 

 

 

 
 
 

06/12/16 

 
Other Topics To Be Considered 
 
The following items are due to be considered by the Panel: 

 Corporate Enforcement Policy including Graffiti/Fly 
Tipping Policy 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The Panel are to consider a 
report at its meeting in April. 

 
 
 

06/06/2017 

 

 
 
 

Quarterly 
 
 

 
Reports Due/Regular Items 
 
Representatives on External Organisations 
Selected Members represent the Council on various External 
Organisations. 

 
 
 
The Panel received an update 
report at its meeting in 
November 2016. 

 
 
 
Next report is due at the Panel 
meeting in March 2017. 
 

 
 
 

07/03/2017 
 
 

110



Panel 
Date 

Decision Action Response 
Date for 
Future 
Action 

 

3 
 

 
04/10/16 

 
 
 

2014-17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

12/10/16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
Huntingdonshire Community Safety Partnership 
Annual review of the work of the Partnership. 
 
 
Operation Service Policy Updates 
The Panel has received the following: 
 

 RECAP update 

 Garden Waste Contamination 

 Dry Recyclates Contamination 

 Lane End Collection Policy 

 Review of Waste Policies 

 Waste Service- Service Specification  

 Waste Round Reconfiguration 

 Street Cleansing Service Specification 

 Creation of the Integrated Street Scene Service 

 Needs Analysis of Open Space and Play Facilities 

 Street Scene Service Update 

 Open Spaces Water Safety Policy Review 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
A report on the performance of the CCG was presented to the 
Panel at its special meeting in October 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The 2016/17 report is scheduled 
to be presented to the Panel in 
October 2017.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The CCG agreed to return to the 
Panel to inform Members of the 
System Transformation 
Programme (STP). 
 
At the Panel meeting in March 
2016, Mr Weller agreed to 
attend a future Panel meeting 
and update Members on the 
Urgent and Emergency Care 
Vanguard Programme. 
 

 
A six month update report is 
due at a future meeting of the 
Panel. 
 
Reports on the following are 
expected: 
 
Grounds Maintenance Service 
Review 
 
Waste Round Reconfiguration 
Update – Closure Report 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
The Sustainability and 
Transformation Programme 
(STP) is to be presented to a 
future meeting of the Panel. 

 
04/04/2017 

 
 

 
 

 
 

04/04/2017 
 

 
06/06/2017 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Date to be 
agreed 

 

 
 

Date to be 
agreed 

 
 
 
 
 

111



Panel 
Date 

Decision Action Response 
Date for 
Future 
Action 

 

4 
 

 
07/07/15 

 
Redesign of Mental Health Services 
The Panel received an update report on the Children and 
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS). 
 

 
The Panel requested further 
updates at future meetings. 
 

 
04/07/2017 

 

 

112


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3 NOTICE OF KEY EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
	5 NEW CAMBRIDGESHIRE HOUSING ADAPTATIONS AGREEMENT AND REFRESHED HUNTINGDONSHIRE HOUSING RENEWAL ASSISTANCE POLICY
	Item 5 - Appendix 1 FINAL
	Item 5 - Appendix 2 FINAL
	Item 5 - Appendix 3 FINAL

	7 REPRESENTATION ON EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS - QUARTERLY UPDATE REPORT
	8 WORK PLAN STUDIES
	9 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROGRESS

